

# THE FUTURE WANT

A Vision of Sustainable Development for All





UN Women would like to thank everyone who contributed to the realization of this document.

This publication and other UN Women contributions to the Conference on Sustainable Development (Rio+20) were made possible thanks to the support of the Governments of Australia, Brazil, Denmark, Norway, Republic of Korea and Switzerland, as well as the Ford Foundation, Itaipu Binacional and Petrobras.

© 2012 UN Women. All rights reserved. Manufactured in the United States.

The views expressed in this publication are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily represent the views of UN Women, the United Nations or any of its affiliated organizations.

Content development, editing and layout: Suazion (NY, suazion.com)

Art direction: dammsavage studio (NY, dammsavage.com)

Production: A.K. Office Supplies (NY, akofficesupplies.com)

Photography: Bata Bhurji/Barefoot College (cover); UN Women/ Karim Selmaoui (page 2); UN Photo/Kibae Park (pages 4, 19, 24, 30); UN Photo/Unknown (pages 7, 29); UN Photo/Eskinder Debebe (pages 9, 20, 32); UN Photo/Evan Schneider (page 10); UN Photo/ Eric Kanalstein (page 13); UN Photo/Sophia Paris (page 14); UN Photo/ Kibae Park (page 24); UN Women/Gaganjit Singh (page 27); UN Photo/ B Wolff (page 29); UN Photo/Albert González Farran (page 34, 37)

## **CONTENTS**

FOREWORD	3
MOVING TOWARDS SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT	5
NO TIME TO WASTE	5
BUILDING ON A STRONG FOUNDATION	5
TAKING AN INTEGRATED APPROACH	8
SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT AND	
THE TRANSFORMATIVE POWER OF WOMEN	11
WOMEN'S AGENCY AND LEADERSHIP	11
ADDRESSING PRIORITIES	13
Safe water and sanitation	14
Food security and sustainable agriculture	17
Energy access, efficiency and sustainability	20
Sustainable cities	22
Decent work in a green economy	25
Health	29
Education	32
THE FUTURE WOMEN WANT	37
ENDNOTES	39



UN Women Executive Director Michelle Bachelet meets with rural women of the Soulalyates ethnic group, who have been striving for inheritance and property rights in Morocco.

## **FOREWORD**

Rio+20 provides an opportunity for leaders to strengthen the foundation laid 20 years ago at the 1992 Earth Summit to build a path towards a sustainable future.

Twenty years ago, UN Member States unanimously agreed that "women have a vital role in environmental management and development. Their full participation is therefore essential to achieve sustainable development".

Twenty years later, we still have a long way to go to end discrimination and violence against women and to achieve equal rights, opportunities and participation. A new development paradigm should advance equality, human rights and environmental protection.

Every day, women manage household resources and make decisions with environmental impacts. To move forward, Rio+20 needs to encourage specific actions to advance women's empowerment and gender equality and reduce women's poverty and harmful health and environmental impacts. Any agreement must acknowledge women's contributions to sustainable development.

UN Women was established in 2010 to make greater progress for gender equality and women's empowerment. Our work—to advance women's leadership, participation and economic opportunities; end violence against women and girls; increase women's participation in peace-building; and support

gender-responsive budgets and plans—supports sustainable development in its economic, social and environmental dimensions.

For the sake of current and future generations, we must nurture and develop all of humankind's collective intelligence and capacity. Given rising sea levels, increasing inequality and environmental decline, the full and equal participation and leadership of women is no longer an option. It is an urgent necessity if we are to achieve the transformational change needed at all levels and spheres of society for sustainable development.

I am proud to release this report highlighting the centrality of women's rights, empowerment and gender equality to sustainable development, and pointing the way forward with recommendations to build the future women want.

Michelle Bachelet

() Viell Ole Bre

Under-Secretary-General and Executive Director, UN Women



# MOVING TOWARDS SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

#### NO TIME TO WASTE

Since the first Rio Conference in 1992, the world has experienced economic, social and environmental crises with severe human costs for many of the world's most vulnerable, poor and disadvantaged people. Nearly two thirds of the services provided by nature to humankind are in decline worldwide and climate change poses unprecedented threats to humanity.

Spiking world food prices, first in 2008 and again in 2011, pushed millions of additional people into poverty. Food costs between 2010 and 2011 alone kept an estimated 49 million people in poverty and led to increased undernourishment. Urban and female-headed households were particularly hard hit—women are disproportionately represented among the global poor. The food crisis remains a serious threat to the lives of millions, and entrenched gender roles mean that women often bear the brunt of the associated hardships as growers and processors of food, responsible for the nutrition of their family.

Four years after the 2008–2009 financial crisis, global economic recovery is still uncertain. Advanced economies are expected to grow at a little over 1 per cent in 2012; developing countries, which buoyed the global economy in the aftermath of the crisis, are expected to grow slower. Unemployment remains high in most developed countries, still well above pre-crisis levels, but in developing countries employment recovery has been stronger. The impacts of the recession, unemployment and slow economic growth on women and men differ due to gender norms and stereotypes that continue to perpetuate gender-based discrimination in many areas, including access to productive assets and justice.

The urgency to find a new global development framework is greater than ever. The dominant model of economic development has led to growing inequalities within and between countries and helped to generate social and economic exclusion. A new gender-responsive global development framework must integrate environmental sustainability, inclusive growth, gender equality and social inclusion.

## BUILDING ON A STRONG FOUNDATION

In addition to strong action to protect the environment, sustainable development requires delivering on the fundamentals: international commitments to eradicate poverty, promote human rights and advance gender equality.

The 1945 Charter of the United Nations reaffirmed faith in fundamental human rights, in the dignity and worth of every human, in the equal rights of men and women and of nations large and small. It demonstrated determination to promote social progress and better standards of life with expanded freedoms.<sup>2</sup> Within this framework, gender equality advocates in civil society, governments and the UN system have advocated for the equal rights of women and girls in civil, economic, political, social and environmental issues.

The 1979 Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women (CEDAW), a significant outcome of these efforts, committed all State Parties to take measures in the political, social, economic and cultural fields to guarantee women the full exercise and enjoyment of all human rights and fundamental freedoms. In its dialogues with government representatives, the CEDAW Committee has called on State Parties to include gender equality and women's empowerment as an overarching guiding principle in all areas, including the environment and climate change.<sup>3</sup>

In 1987, the Brundtland Commission report, 'Our Common Future', ushered in a new thinking on sustainable development, which it defined as development that "meets the needs of current generations without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs". This definition laid the foundation for an

approach to sustainable development that highlights inter-generational responsibility and defines the three interlinked and mutually reinforcing dimensions of sustainable development: economic, social and environmental.

During the 1990s, the international community came together at a series of international conferences and agreed on global commitments in relation to sustainable development, financing for development, human rights, population issues, social development and gender equality and women's empowerment.

At the 1992 United Nations Conference on Environment and Development in Rio de Janeiro (the Earth Summit), the Rio Declaration and Agenda 21 laid out a global framework for addressing the challenges facing the global community in the three central dimensions of sustainable development.4

Principle 20 of the Rio Declaration stated that "women have a vital role in environmental management and development. Their full participation is therefore essential to achieve sustainable development." In addition, Chapter 24 of Agenda 21 recommended that national governments develop strategies to "eliminate constitutional, legal, administrative, cultural, behavioural, social and economic obstacles to women's full participation in sustainable development and in public life".

Much of the progress made on the normative framework for sustainable development at the international level should be credited to the women's movement. Across the globe, women leaders have advocated for environmental issues, women's rights and the well-being of their communities.

Since the Earth Summit, work towards attaining sustainable development has increasingly integrated its economic, social and environmental dimensions, with a strong focus on poverty eradication. The 2002 Johannesburg Plan of Implementation reviewed progress made since the Earth Summit and discussed ways to further advance Agenda 21 implementation. The Plan noted that poverty eradication is the greatest contemporary global challenge and is an indispensable requirement for sustainable development, particularly in developing countries. The Plan also outlined areas in which work was required in order to advance gender equality, including promoting women's equal access to and full participation in decision-making at all levels, mainstreaming gender perspectives in all policies and strategies, eliminating all forms of violence and discrimination against women and ensuring full and equal access to economic opportunities, credit, education, health care, land and agricultural resources.

## BOX 1. 1992: Agenda 21 calls for global action for women

Chapter 24 of Agenda 21, Global Action for Women towards Sustainable and Equitable Development, contains references and recommendations on subjects including eliminating violence against women; strengthening women's bureaux, non-governmental organizations and groups; advancing women's participation in and access to decision-making, education, employment and credit; reducing women's unpaid care work<sup>6</sup> and providing reproductive health care; and recognizing women's contributions to reducing unsustainable consumption and production patterns. Agenda 21 also called for concrete actions in the areas of research, data collection and knowledge dissemination.

Agenda 21 was revolutionary in that it called for both institutional arrangements and financial resources for its effective implementation. It called upon the Secretary-General to review the "adequacy of all United Nations institutions, including those with a special focus on the role of women, in meeting development and environment objectives, and make recommendations for strengthening their capacities".

The Earth Summit also contributed to the creation of three significant environmental agreements that came to be known as the Rio Conventions: the United Nations Convention to Combat Desertification, the Convention on Biological Diversity, and the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC). While the first two advanced gender perspectives from the outset, UNFCCC did not originally incorporate a gender perspective. However, awareness of the linkages between gender equality and climate change issues has since increased, including through a critical decision in 2001 aiming for gender parity in all UNFCCC created bodies and the 2010 Cancún Agreements and 2011 Durban Platform, which integrate multiple gender dimensions due to diligent efforts of key Parties and gender advocates. During the last two decades, UNFCCC has also undergone a significant evolution, broadening its environmental focus from mitigating greenhouse gases to include the economic and social dimensions of adaptation, thus more closely reflecting the comprehensive approach of sustainable development.

The 1995 Fourth World Conference on Women added a new dimension to the development discourse. The Beijing Platform for Action led the shift from a women-specific approach to a focus on gender relations by identifying gender mainstreaming, human rights and the development of partnerships between women and men as the strategic bases for the pursuit of gender equality. It asserted that human beings are at the centre of concern for sustainable development and that women have an essential role to play in developing sustainable and ecologically sound consumption and production patterns and approaches to natural resources management.

The progress governments have made in implementing the Beijing Platform for Action has been reviewed on three separate occasions, in 2000, 2005 and 2010. These reviews have spelled out the importance of women's participation and benefits in the context of the environmental dimension, effectively substantiating and updating the Rio Declaration and Agenda 21. Governments have made some efforts to strengthen institutional mechanisms to mainstream gender perspectives in the environmental sector. Countries have also increasingly linked gender equality and the



environment in national action plans and strategies. Despite these efforts, environmental policies and programmes have not consistently taken into account gender differences in access to, and control over, natural resources or the impact of environmental degradation on women and men. Institutions continue to lack the capacity, knowledge and skills to mainstream gender perspectives in sustainable development and natural resource management, and in particular in relation to climate change.<sup>8</sup>

These global normative frameworks and plans of action have clearly laid out the principles for a people-centred approach to development and the systematic integration of gender perspectives into all policies, actions and strategies on sustainable development. But a number of reviews have illustrated that the significant development of global policy frameworks has not been translated into effective implementation at the national level.

At the Millennium Summit in 2000, heads of state and government resolved to "promote gender equality and the empowerment of women as effective ways to combat poverty, hunger and disease and to stimulate development that is truly sustainable".9

The work of the Summit ultimately led to

## **BOX 2. Beijing Platform for Action on women** and the environment

The Beijing Platform for Action dedicated one of its twelve critical areas of concern to women and the environment in addition to focusing on women and poverty, the economy and social issues, such as health and education.

Strategic Objective K recommended actions in three areas: (i) Involve women actively in environmental decision-making at all levels; (ii) Integrate gender concerns and perspectives in policies and programmes for sustainable development; and (iii) Strengthen or establish mechanisms at the national, regional and international levels to assess the impact of development and environment policies on women.

The Platform calls for the integration of gender perspectives in the design and implementation of environmentally sound and sustainable resource management mechanisms and infrastructure development in rural and urban areas; the effective protection and use of the knowledge, innovations and practices of women; and for the participation of women in decision-making on sustainable resource management and the development of policies for sustainable development.

defining eight Millennium Development Goals (MDGs), to be achieved by 2015. One goal, MDG3, was dedicated to gender equality and women's empowerment, and several other goals included gender-sensitive targets and indicators. It has been widely recognized since then—and validated in a number of reviews and evaluations—that progress on MDG3 is critical for the achievement of all other goals. However, the goals on environmental sustainability, MDG7, and global partnership, MDG8, were and remain gender-blind. The limited progress for women in relation to the MDGs suggests that efforts to achieve the MDGs were insufficiently based on the global policy framework on gender equality and women's empowerment.

Today, the international community is at another juncture. Discussions leading up to Rio+20 have focused on a set of sustainable development goals. In September 2013, the General Assembly will hold a summit to review progress towards achieving the MDGs. As attention is turning towards formulating the post-2015 development agenda, the Secretary-General will appoint a High-level Panel of Eminent Persons to guide the future development discourse.

Irrespective of the form it will ultimately take, the post-2015 development framework must

fully integrate issues of gender equality and women's empowerment into all goals and be built on the principles of universality, human rights, equality, people-centred progress and accountability. It must also prioritize gender equality as a comprehensive goal in itself, with indicators and targets that embrace the economic, social and environmental dimensions of sustainable development.

## TAKING AN INTEGRATED APPROACH

Only an integrated approach can build equilibrium between present and future demands for economic progress across generations, social justice and use of natural resources that respects environmental and ecological development. While delivering on each of the three dimensions of sustainable development is important for women's empowerment, it is not enough; it is imperative to take an integrated approach. This would entail a shift to a sustainable development model in which the economic, social and environment dimensions involve women as beneficiaries, leaders and contributors to growth that is inclusive,

socially equitable and just, and effectively manages resources and the environment.

Economic dimension: Inclusive growth is a critical element in ensuring the outcomes of development efforts are equitably distributed. When women have access to resources and opportunities and participate on an equal footing in economic life, they are in a better position to fill their roles as drivers of development outcomes and take advantage of sustainable and inclusive economic growth. Evidence shows that this not only benefits women themselves, but also contributes to economic growth. Yet, the feminization of poverty, women's unpaid work, their concentration in informal and vulnerable employment and constraints on their access to productive resources and capital and the lack or absence of women representatives and voices in key decision-making bodies restrain women's contributions to productivity, efficiency and sustainable development. Further steps are required to integrate gender equality and women's empowerment perspectives into policies and strategies for economic growth, poverty reduction, economic and financial infrastructure, as well as to provide women and men with equal access to productive assets and resources (e.g. land and other property, and finance), decent work and essential services (e.g. energy and water).

**Social dimension**: Gender equality and women's empowerment are fundamental aspects of social justice. Social norms, gender stereotypes, unequal and limited access to resources, health and education services limit women's ability to participate as full and equal participants in all aspects of life.10 Despite making progress on the normative framework for gender equality and women's empowerment over recent decades, there is a long way to go to ensure women's rights within the family, community and society. Among many examples, indigenous women lack many rights and are almost forgotten or side-lined by economic policies and development strategies that do not provide environmental and social safeguards that could address their social exclusion. Social policies that encompass the principles of inclusiveness, equity and environmental sustainability would contribute to creating an enabling environment for growth to be more distributive and beneficial to different groups of

women and men—and consequently advance the attainment of sustainable development.

**Environmental dimension**: Women as agricultural producers, workers, and resource managers contribute to influencing sustainable consumption and production, safeguarding the natural environment and biodiversity, preserving traditional knowledge and allocating adequate and sustainable resources within the household and community. Women farmers make decisions under highly constrained conditions, which often require adopting production patterns that neglect sustainable development concerns. Within the context of the care economy, women living in poverty have to manage different allocations of scarce resources from water to energy. This is particularly the case when confronted with environmental degradation, which increases women's care burdens. In addition, it affects their consumption patterns and overall management of natural resources by the community. However, current policy frameworks place insufficient importance and consideration on these roles or how these roles are affected by market and non-market production and consumption. Providing women with opportunities and resources and engaging them in decisionmaking processes regarding the environment could improve their social livelihoods and well-being, and benefit entire communities in areas that advance sustainability.





# NITIATIVES

# SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT AND THE TRANSFORMATIVE POWER OF WOMEN

## WOMEN'S AGENCY AND LEADERSHIP

Women have organized at all levels—from grass-roots to national and international—to advocate for gender equality and women's empowerment, for people-centred development in policy and funding frameworks, to develop concrete initiatives that improve the lives of women and their communities and to integrate the three dimensions of sustainable development into decision-making and implementation.

Women's organizing and calls for change have taken place within many different types of civil society organizations, local and national governments, and in the informal and formal sectors of the economy. Women have challenged existing power relations and discriminatory laws, policies and institutions. They have advocated for women's rights, including their right to participate fully in decisions that shape their lives, whether it is access to water, safe sources of energy or the development of global norms. Similarly, feminist economic scholars have made important contributions by highlighting the role of women's unpaid care work that maintains communities and economies,

but which is often ignored in systems of national accounting and in policymaking.

Women have successfully challenged traditional views of themselves as victims and asserted instead that they are agents of change, innovators and decision makers. Women's organizing has led to some severe responses and repercussions, as illustrated by the report of the UN Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights defenders, which documented 33 cases of violence against women working on environmental issues between 2004 and 2009.

The success of women's leadership and organizing for change can be seen in increased calls by different stakeholders for investments in women and girls in order to achieve economic growth, reduce poverty and reach other goals. This new approach creates new opportunities for promoting equality, inclusiveness and people-centred strategies.

The local level has provided an important entry point for women to drive and lead solutions to sustainable development. Not only do women and men in local communities directly face specific problems, but they are also the most motivated to solve them.

## Box 3. Women's initiatives at the local level

Organizations such as the Self-Employed Women's Association, HomeNet, StreetNet and the Uruguayan Association of Rural Women are widely cited success stories of social transformation through collective organizing by poor women in the informal sector. In Peru, a woman-led organization, Grupo Ciudad Saludable, has organized informal and unprotected waste scavengers—a majority of whom are women—to collect, recycle and dispose of waste for a population of 4 million people in both poor urban and rural communities. Replication of this initiative has now begun in Mexico and Venezuela.¹² Similarly, women farmer groups in Malawi led the shift away from conventional 'row' planting of single crops to 'pothole' planting with mixed crop placement as a result of their observations of positive harvest yields from moisture retention and provision of shade from taller maize crops for lower growing vegetables.¹³

Lessons learned have demonstrated that a collective force of women and men is required in order to bring about change and identify solutions at the community level.

Communities—often driven by women's groups—have engaged and resolved many land, housing, livelihood and service access (e.g. water, energy and waste management) issues. However, these small-scale interventions are not sustainable by themselves. Systematic and scalable solutions are needed that address the

systemic issues of sustainable development and place poverty reduction and gender equality at the core of interventions. Good practices show that strategic partnerships between governments and civil society can drive change through legal and regulatory reforms, planning, budgeting, and monitoring and evaluation of policies and programmes.

Larger-scale initiatives should consult end-users, particularly women, during design and implementation given women's roles in

## BOX 4. Women's agency transforms policies

Across the globe, women leaders have stood up in defence of the environment, women's rights and the well-being of their communities.

Wangari Muta Maathai (1940-2011), is among the best-known leaders—known for her role as the founder of the Green Belt movement in Kenya in 1977 and as the first African woman to be awarded the Nobel Peace Prize in 2004. Ms. Maathai galvanized a movement that planted more than 47 million trees across Africa and encouraged a new way of thinking and action that links democracy and sustainable development. Lesser known movements can also provide perspective as to the influence of gender advocates and activism.

A more recent success related to climate change. Gender equality advocates from around the world have increasingly drawn attention to the gender dimensions of the evolving international policy framework on climate change. The United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, which serves as the dominant international framework for addressing climate change, was negotiated by the General Assembly in 1990 and signed in Rio two years later. The original instrument focused on mitigation strategies and did not address gender perspectives. In 2007, it expanded into adaptation and related economic and social issues with the adoption of the Bali Plan of Action. That same year, the Global Gender and Climate Alliance united several UN and civil society organizations to raise awareness, build the capacities of negotiators and partners, and advocate for UNFCCC decisions to include gender dimensions. UN Women joined these efforts and worked closely with a range of stakeholders, including women's organizations such as the Women's Environment and Development Organization, to contribute to concrete outcomes. By 2010, as a result of all these efforts, the tide turned with enhanced coordination among advocates, increasing the number of women in delegations and a woman Executive Secretary of the UNFCCC. The Cancún Agreements of UNFCCC COP-16 (2010), include references related to gender-specific vulnerabilities; the need for gender-sensitive approaches to adaptation plans and gender considerations in REDD strategies; gender parity in the composition of the Technology Executive Committee; and most critically, the recognition "that gender equality and the effective participation of women ... are important for effective action on all aspects of climate change". Most recently, in the Durban Platform of COP-17 (2011), commitments were secured that deepen the integration of gender issues into technology and climate finance, including in the Green Climate Fund guidelines. Also in 2011, the Women and Gender Constituency received status as an official Observer to the UNFCCC.

the household and the community (e.g. as primary users of household energy, water and land for household food security). For example, through their daily responsibilities for water management, women and girls know the location, reliability and quality of local water resources. The exclusion of women from the planning of water supply and sanitation schemes has been identified as a major cause of their high rate of failure. Ye Evidence from India and Nepal suggests that women's involvement in decision-making at the community level is associated with better local environmental management.

Women's effective engagement in policy development and in concrete actions at the local level to achieve sustainable development has led to hard-won gains in terms of women's social, political and economic rights. Any future development framework must translate the many commitments on gender equality into concrete measures to ensure women's full participation, equal opportunities and people-centred development.



## Thematic priority areas

- Safe water and sanitation
- Food security and sustainable agriculture
- Energy access, efficiency and sustainability
- Sustainable cities
- Decent work in a green economy
- Health
- Education

#### **ADDRESSING PRIORITIES**

The examples presented here share innovative strategies, experiences and programmes by organizations and countries that champion the goals of sustainable, people-centred and gender-responsive development. At the same time, reviewing successes and failures highlights familiar issues that have for years affected all spheres of women's lives.

From the basic necessities of food and water to the more complex and long-term development objectives of attaining universal energy access and sustainability, women remain challenged by a set of factors that the development community has long recognized but made insufficient progress to address.

## SAFE WATER AND SANITATION

## Importance to sustainable development

Water is a basic necessity for sustaining life, from drinking and preparing food to bathing, washing, irrigating crops and watering livestock. Lack of access poses innumerable challenges, from the economic burden of having to pay for water or spending more time fetching it to considerable health hazards. Still, nearly 1 billion people lack access to clean drinking water, and 2.6 billion lack access to improved sanitation services. As a result, some 1.4 million children under five die every year.

In many societies, water plays an increasingly important economic role, particularly as one of the major sources of green energy. Waterways have also historically been integral to many countries' transportation systems.

Consequently, water scarcity and quality—as a consequence of climate change, pollution or other factors—pose both economic and environmental sustainability concerns.

Watchdog organizations warn that current agricultural, manufacturing and waste management practices are not sustainable; China and India are already experiencing significant water-related economic difficulties, and some experts predict that more than half of the world will face water scarcity by the middle of the 21st century.<sup>18</sup>

#### Women's contributions

Though equal access to safe drinking water is widely accepted as a human right essential for full enjoyment of life, lack of access has a decidedly gender-specific impact: in most communities, fetching water is the responsibility of women and children.

In addition, water is central to the full range of domestic activities, which many cultures still view traditionally as 'women's domain': food preparation, care of animals, crop irrigation, personal hygiene of the entire household, care of the sick, cleaning, washing and waste disposal.<sup>20</sup> Women worldwide spend more than 200 million hours per day collecting water<sup>21</sup> and have developed considerable knowledge about water resources, including their location, quality and storage methods.



#### Women's challenges

Privatization of common water sources, reduction of previously provided government services and market-based water allocation mechanisms are increasingly challenging poor women and men around the world. If current trends of giving priority to industrial, agricultural and power production persist, the possibility of water becoming unaffordable for the poor becomes increasingly real.

Current lack of access by the poor can result not only from economic pressures but also from multiple socio-political and environmental factors, such as armed conflict or drought. Women and girls are walking further to find water, often risking violence in politically or environmentally volatile areas. The rising amounts of time consumed by procuring water limits women and girls' opportunities to engage in other activities—such as going to school or earning an income—and often limits time devoted to childcare and other household health and wellness-oriented activities.

Though images of women carrying water are ubiquitous, few understand the true social and economic impact of this monumental task. One 2012 estimate suggests that cutting just 15 minutes off the walking time to a water source could reduce under-five child mortality by 11 per cent and a prevalence of nutrition-depleting diarrhoea by 41 per cent.<sup>22</sup> In Ghana, a 15-minute reduction in water collection time increased girls' school attendance by 8 to 12 per cent.<sup>23</sup> A Bangladesh school sanitation project that provided separate facilities for boys and girls boosted girls' school attendance by an annual average of 11 per cent during the decade ending in 2000.<sup>24</sup>

Similar to other areas of the formal economy, women are underrepresented in the water sector's workforce. A study in South Asia attributes this disparity as much to women's broader challenges of participating in the

labour market (e.g. lack of access to child care or work-schedule flexibility) as to their educational opportunities, which do not necessarily favour the scientific and mathematical skills currently demanded in the water sector.<sup>25</sup> Many development-oriented water projects fail due to insufficient consultations with end users, including women, on their needs, and insufficient attention to building local communities' capacity to construct, maintain and repair top-down water systems.<sup>26</sup>

#### The way forward

Ensuring equitable provision of reliable, clean water and sanitation services requires participatory water governance, where women's equal voices influence and inform policymaking, decision-making and management of water and sanitation facilities. Given that 80 per cent of all illnesses are transmitted by contaminated water,<sup>27</sup> this area requires broad-based and coordinated action by members of the global health and development communities in close partnership with local governments and other stakeholders.

Beyond addressing the socially and physically different needs of women and girls—such as their need for more private sanitation facilities than men and boys or increased susceptibility to specific hygienic threats while pregnant—action is also needed to mitigate their socioeconomic burdens. Efforts to improve water services need to focus on the quality of water supply and distances to its sources.

In most developing countries, such efforts need to go hand-in-hand with reform that bans discrimination against women and girls in their access to and ownership of land. Equally essential are appropriate technology, financial management and capacity-building programmes, such as those on hygiene or the operation and maintenance of water and sanitation facilities.

## Box 5. Protest vs. reform: Bolivia and South Africa take different paths to water equity

After the privatization of municipal drinking water resulted in immediate and exorbitant price increases, women and men of the Bolivian city of Cochabamba joined together to demand that control be returned to public hands. Residents formed the Defence of Water and Life Coalition that united local organizations, environmental groups, women's groups and leaders, lawyers, labour unions, economists and neighbourhood associations in a collaborative struggle to maintain control of water management. The protest of 2000 was largely economically induced, as new water fees threatened to claim as much as a third of a typical income among the urban poor.

Though the privatization process was ultimately reversed, <sup>28</sup> the Cochabamba incident cannot be viewed solely as a victory. The economic costs of the uprising were significant; the city shut down for several days as citizens took to the streets. A protest intended as peaceful actually resulted in violence and injury. Water returned to being cheaper, but it did not become more available; shortages were making news headlines in 2008. Today, the country still has considerable water supply and sanitation issues, suggesting that community action must be supported by deeper systemic change for the outcomes to be sustainable in the long term.

South Africa, for example, provides a sound legislative foundation for implementing policies to secure women's access to water, in the form of the national Constitution, the 1997 Water Service Act and the 1998 National Water Act. The 2002 Free Basic Water Implementation Strategy sets out the framework for the provision of 6,000 litres of free, safe water per household per month, with additional allowances where there are sanitation issues.<sup>29</sup>

Another key initiative is the South African Water Dialogues, born out of the international Water Dialogues initiative in countries such as Brazil, Indonesia, the Philippines and Uganda. This collaborative dialogue platform on water privatization provides a forum to discuss different approaches and models of water service delivery. The South African Water Dialogues is a multi-sectoral group of government representatives—spanning the Department of Water Affairs and Forestry, the National Treasury, the City of Johannesburg, the Johannesburg Water Management, the Local Government Association—and other public and private-sector actors, such as the Coalition Against Water Privatization, the Environmental Monitoring Group, the Association of Water Utilities, the Municipal Workers Union, the South African Water Caucus, the Water Information Network, and Mvula Trust (the country's leading water and sanitation non-governmental organization). The group undertakes research and disseminates lessons learned in promoting the most effective safe water service delivery model.<sup>30</sup> It therefore has the potential to address gender issues in relation to water if it works closely with gender equality advocates and women's networks.

### FOOD SECURITY AND SUSTAINABLE AGRICULTURE

## Importance to sustainable development

Food security is closely linked to issues of health, economic development, trade, poverty, equity and the environment. Agriculture is the largest employment sector in most developing countries. Some 2.6 billion people depend on agriculture for their livelihoods, a vast majority of them living on small farms in rural areas on less than \$1 per day.<sup>31</sup> Worse yet, some 925 million people go hungry every day,<sup>32</sup> and there is no consensus on whether the problem lies with insufficient production or distribution challenges.

Concerns over natural resources and sustainable agricultural practices are central to this sector. Global achievements in production are often associated with degradation of land and water resources and deterioration of ecosystem goods, from biomass to productive soil and water resources.33 The application of green farming practices at small farms mitigates some of such concerns and increases yields by between 54 and 179 per cent;34 however, the majority of small-scale producers, particularly in developing countries where food and agriculture concerns are exacerbated by socioeconomic inequalities, remain at a disadvantage in a market of increased competition over land and water and general lack of access to resources and opportunities. In addition, financial resources—both national budgets and official development assistanceallocated to water and land management have been on a general downward trend.35

#### Women's contributions

Women are active in all agricultural sectors and are primarily responsible for cultivating food crops and vegetables, managing small animals and running small-scale commercial agriculture enterprises. Women account for an average of 43 per cent of agricultural jobs among developing countries, and for nearly 50 per cent in some countries in Africa and Asia.<sup>36</sup> Women represent only 12 per cent of fishery labour,<sup>37</sup>

but over 65 per cent of the 400 million livestock keepers.<sup>38</sup>

Many cultures revere the older woman who possesses a seemingly infinite amount of knowledge on natural resources—for example, which leaves to brew into a headache-relieving tea and how to preserve seeds for best yield next season. Though exaggerated by folklore, this mythical perception is firmly rooted in reality: indigenous women have spent centuries gathering, sharing and preserving botanical, agricultural, livestock, health and medicinal, nutritional, and other environmental knowledge—and taking economic advantage of it when market realities allow.

Many women-led projects have strong environmental components and benefits, as demonstrated by projects supported by various international development partners. Rwandan women farmers have successfully brought to market organic 'women's coffee'. In Kenya and Zimbabwe, women are protecting and planting indigenous and medicinal trees, establishing bee populations in arid areas and learning how to maintain them while processing trees and honey for sale. Women in Benin have adopted environmentally sustainable methods of oyster harvesting and are also reforesting a lagoon to ensure it can continue to provide livelihoods to local communities.<sup>39</sup>

Women have greatly benefitted from the introduction of information and communication technology, which has contributed to their successful integration into the market and global value chains. Ugandan women farmers use communications technologies to interact with other parts of the country, while women fish processors in Benin use video, television and mobile phones to learn new fish preservation techniques and to sell their goods in Togo and Nigeria. In Italy, the YOURuralNET Web community allows women farm managers to share knowledge, experiences and good practices.<sup>40</sup>

While progress has been made in the legislative arena, progress in implementation has been slow. For example, the Government of Tajikistan has advanced women's land rights in the framework of the land reform process with support from UN Women. The country's land, family and civic codes are

## Box 6. Women's groups and government agencies back women-led initiatives

While many countries continue to struggle against cultural norms that make it difficult for a woman to even speak to—much less do business with—people outside her immediate family, others have moved ahead in securing widespread national support for empowering women in the food and agriculture sector.

Local women's organizations are expectedly at the front of creating awareness of women's rights to access and control productive resources such as land—among all groups of stakeholders, and among women themselves. Women's groups and cooperatives such as the Huairou Commission and GROOTS have put pressure on land administrations to promote land rights reform.<sup>41</sup> In Rwanda, women's non-governmental organizations have promoted marriage registration, oral and holographic wills and memory books to remedy the lack of identification cards, a major obstacle for women's acquisition of land title.

Governments are also providing financial and technical assistance. Women farmers in Fiji are adopting eco-friendly farming methods with support from three separate government departments (in charge of fisheries, cooperatives and women's issues), who have partnered to promote women's engagement in cultivating seaweed and producing virgin coconut oil, honey and pearls. The Government of Timor-Leste has supplied 2,305 agricultural groups—37 per cent of whose membership are women—with agricultural equipment including tractors, power threshers and rice millers.

now aligned, sex-disaggregated land-use data is being collected and many women now have access to free capacity building services. The government has financed some 75 district task forces, which work under the leadership of local women's committees and, with support of practicing attorneys, provide free legal and other advice. Since 2003, these task forces have provided support to more than 16,230 citizens, an overwhelming 86 per cent of whom were women. The share of women owners among new farm registrations reflects this stimulus, with an increase from 2 per cent in 2002 to 14 per cent in 2008.

## Women's challenges

Despite being the main producers of food in many developing countries, very few women can access the resources or rights to fully contribute to food and nutrition security. 42 Inadequate or discriminatory legal and social structures and cultural norms prevent women from owning land and accessing productive resources or

agricultural extension services. Women's land ownership is less than 5 per cent in Northern Africa and West Asian countries, between 5 and 30 per cent in sub-Saharan Africa and only about 25 per cent in each Chile, Ecuador and Panama.<sup>43</sup> When women do have access to land—through marriage, inheritance, land reform programmes and land markets—it is often of poor quality.<sup>44</sup> A 2011 report estimated that women farmers produce 20 to 30 per cent less than men due to the differences in resource access and use.<sup>45</sup>

In addition to resource poverty and lack of opportunity common among the world's most disadvantaged populations, certain cultural norms and traditions may exacerbate women's and girls' vulnerabilities. For example, men of some societies eat before women, children and the elderly; men also receive the best food. Many practitioners have theorized that this results in a higher risk of malnutrition among women and children; others say no actual evidence exists to support this theory. For example, a 1996 review of literature by the International

Food Policy Research Institute concluded that despite extensive study, "evidence of pro-male biases in food consumption is scarce".<sup>46</sup>

In contrast, women and girls have physiologically different food requirements, where lower quantities are balanced out by the need for a higher concentration of nutrients such as, for example, iron. Women also have increased nutritional requirements during pregnancy. Poverty, lack of access to or availability of appropriately nutritious foods, and often lack of education puts women at an increased risk of malnutrition; many simply do not know their own nutritional needs.

Children of mothers involved in agriculture are at a similar disadvantage. There is evidence that women who balance long days of farm work with household responsibilities have little time and energy to tend to and prepare nutritious family meals or weaning foods.<sup>47</sup> Smaller children particularly suffer when the demand for agricultural labour is high. Data also reveals a correlation between women's rights and child welfare: countries where women lack land ownership rights have 60 per cent more malnourished children; countries that restrict women's access to credit have 85 per cent more.<sup>48</sup>

## The way forward

There is a strong case for promoting gender equality and women's empowerment in agriculture. Evidence suggests that investing in women-owned food and agricultural enterprises could narrow the resource gap and increase agricultural yields to reduce the number of hungry people by 100 to 150 million.49 Hunger will only be exacerbated if the global society does not adopt a more sustainable approach to food cultivation. Rising population numbers are expected to require 70 per cent more food production globally by 2050, compared to 2009. This increase can be as high as 100 per cent for developing countries, which already suffer from land and water scarcity to a greater degree than the rest of the world: availability of cultivated land per capita in low-income countries is half that of highincome states, and the quality—and, therefore, the yield—of such land is typically lower.50

In this context, empowering rural women and girls to collectively take on the challenge of future food production becomes all the more important. As a first step, legislative reform and public policy measures are needed to ensure women are afforded the rights and capacity to own the means of production, such as land, technology and other inputs. In parallel, the development community and national government will need to address issues of access—to financial services, infrastructure, technology and transportation—and build women's and girls' capacities by providing networking and educational opportunities and training to enable women to benefit from previously unfamiliar business and economic concepts and markets (such as, for example, fair trade).



## ENERGY ACCESS, EFFICIENCY AND SUSTAINABILITY

## Importance to sustainable development

Energy is both a requirement and catalyst for promoting social and economic development, reducing poverty and furthering gender equality. Enhancing energy services can reduce women's and girls' unpaid care work burden, which can create space for other activities. Reducing dependability on inefficient biomass fuel stoves not only reduces these burdens, but also reduces indoor air pollution. Securing adequate lighting infrastructure can reduce crime and enhance the quality of life within a community. Improved energy access decreases waste associated with productive activities and lowers the amount of inputs needed to generate goods and services. Clean and renewable sources of energy are environmentally responsible and are necessary for climate change mitigation.

#### Women's contributions

Currently, 1.4 billion people lack access to modern forms of energy.<sup>51</sup> Approximately 2.7 billion people rely on open fires and traditional stoves for cooking and heating.<sup>52</sup>



Women and girls bear the primary responsibility for collecting fuel (e.g. wood, dung and crop waste). Extending the power grid to people living in rural areas entails high costs and is often inadequately implemented. Communities around the world have moved directly from traditional to clean energy sources, such as solar and wind energy. Women have taken a leadership role in forming collaborative, community-based energy initiatives.

One such initiative is the Solid Waste Management and Community Mobilization Programme in Nepal—the first-ever winner of the 2011 UN Women-UNEP SEED Gender Equality Award.53 Covering more than 1,000 households and businesses, the Programme recycles organic waste and uses it to produce biogas. Another initiative, the women-led Solar Sisters in East Africa, is a social enterprise established to eradicate energy poverty. It provides women with working capital for a 'business in a bag' (a start-up kit of solar lamps and phone chargers), business training, marketing support and a women-centred direct sales network. To date, Solar Sisters has provided almost 20,000 people with solar equipment.

In partnership with the Barefoot College of India, UN Women is supporting the promotion, expansion and sustainability of community-managed, controlled and owned solar lighting. Rural women receive hands-on training to become solar engineers, capable of fabricating, installing and maintaining solar lighting systems. At the completion of the training, they have the capacity and knowledge to ensure that 60 households in their villages become technically and financially self-sufficient.

## Women's challenges

The growing market for land and urban expansion, in combination with poor governance and weak legal protections, has created serious risks for local communities and owners of small farms. 54 Green economic policies legitimize intensive and mass-scale production of maize and oil-seed plants for bio-fuels with immediate impacts on communities and on women's land-use options, income and livelihoods, food affordability and related costs of living. While the full trade-offs between women's reduced access to land and water and women's increased access to energy have yet to be explored, many women have already been

faced with eviction or exclusion from land. The current economic paradigm prioritizes the interest of the global export economies at the expense of small farming communities.

When sources of modern energy are limited or non-existent, many women must walk long distances to collect fuels for household needs and daily household tasks take longer to complete. In Fiji, women spend approximately 35 hours per week on cooking and washing.55 In Kenya, investments in infrastructure and timeand labour-saving technologies, specifically improved stoves, reduced fuel wood requirements by approximately 40 per cent. 56 In the Philippines, the prevalence of malnutrition was reduced from 64 to 42 per cent through these types of infrastructure investments combined with nutrition and weaning education programmes.<sup>57</sup> Case studies from Bolivia, Tanzania and Viet Nam show that with increased access to household energy, women were able to combine incomegenerating activities with household duties.58

Every year, indoor air pollution from open fires and traditional stoves used for cooking and heating kills an estimated 2 million people—85 per centof whom are women and children,<sup>59</sup> a number likely to dramatically rise in the medium term.<sup>60</sup> Biogas digesters and solar cookers can offer lower emission options for

cooking than traditional biomass stoves, and can substantially reduce indoor pollution. In India, 2.2 million deaths would be prevented over a 10-year period through the introduction of 150 million cleaner burning biomass cook stoves. 61 One improved stove—requiring 50 per cent less biomass fuel—can also reduce greenhouse gas emissions by one ton per year. 62

#### The way forward

Progress requires a new development paradigm, one that puts people at the centre of energy access, efficiency and sustainability. Access to sustainable energy services should be an economic and social right with protections in place for those who need energy most—vulnerable and excluded groups of women and girls. Policies and programmes need to be coupled with largescale investments in local infrastructure and time- and labour-saving technologies, such as renewable fuels, fuel-saving stoves and mills. Easy access to affordable, clean and renewable energy can only be realized through collaborations among multiple stakeholders governments and the international community, along with the civil society and private sector—and the implementation of cross-sectoral, rural and urban policies.

## BOX 7. United Nations calls for commitment to Sustainable Energy for All by 2030

In response to 2010 recommendations of the UN high-level Advisory Group on Energy and Climate Change, Secretary-General Ban Ki-moon launched the Sustainable Energy for All initiative to improve access, efficiency of use and sustainability of energy resources. The launch coincided with a December 2010 General Assembly resolution to designate 2012 as the International Year of Sustainable Energy for All. <sup>63</sup> The initiative aims to mobilize public and private action and commitment to meeting three objectives by 2030: ensuring universal access to modern energy services; doubling the rate of improvement in energy efficiency; and doubling the share of renewable energy in the global energy mix. The initiative emphasizes that without access to modern energy it will not be possible to achieve the Millennium Development Goal on gender equality and women's empowerment and other goals focusing on reducing poverty (MDG1), broadening the reach of education (MDG2) or improving women's and children's health (MDG4+5). <sup>64</sup>

#### SUSTAINABLE CITIES

## Importance to sustainable development

More than half of the world's population—approximately 3.4 billion people—live in urban areas, including more than 1 billion in slums. Forecasts suggest that by 2030, every region of the world will have more people living in urban than rural areas<sup>65</sup>—even in Africa and Asia, which are among the least urbanized. By 2050, cities are expected to account for 69 per cent of the global population.<sup>66</sup>

Though population growth is a contributing factor, the main driver of this slow but steady shift is urban migration, spurred by a wider range of economic opportunities and more advanced, easier to access educational, healthcare and other public service systems. Yet poverty and inequity persist in cities as they do in more rural areas, with some groups of city dwellers more disadvantaged than others.

Urbanization presents numerous problems, chief among which is inadequate planning leading to unsustainable infrastructure, environmental degradation and poor living conditions. Urban poverty is characterized by lack of the most basic necessities, such as food and water. Social and environmental problems—such as homelessness, informality and illegality, crime and pollution—may also exist in more rural areas but are often exacerbated in urban settings.

The intersection between health and urbanization is particularly worrisome. City dwellers, chiefly those living in mega-cities, often face what is referred to as a 'triple threat': an intersection between the rampant spread of infectious diseases in densely populated areas; an increase in the incidence and longevity of noncommunicable and chronic health conditions ranging from asthma to alcoholism; and injuries, which can result from violent crime or, in developing countries, from legislative inaction, such as appropriate traffic laws failing to keep up with technological progress.<sup>67</sup> Violence remains a daily occurrence in the cities of both developed and developing countries,

where many women and young girls face sexual assault or harassment on streets, public transport and in their own neighbourhoods.<sup>68</sup>

#### Women's contributions

Women-headed households are becoming more common in urban areas. They comprise, on average, about 20 per cent of urban households in 160 countries. Women head more than one in three households in the cities of Colombia, Ethiopia, South Africa and Viet Nam, 69 and increasing numbers of countries in every region also show more women-headed households in urban areas than rural areas. 70

For women, drivers of urban migration include not only a lack of rural economic opportunities, but also violence against women, patriarchal authoritarian systems of family and community control, and family pressures. In Nairobi, thousands of women live in informal settlements after having been driven from their homes and land upon the death of their husbands. In Tanzania, growing numbers of adolescent girls migrate to cities seeking education, work or escape from abusive family relations and forced marriage.

Women and women's groups in cities and towns around the world have led initiatives that address women's unique challenges in urban settings. For example, Liberia's Sirleaf Market Women's Fund provides financial support and literacy, business and other training opportunities to market women. The Fund works to improve existing markets and construct new ones that include access to nursery schools, storage, health and sanitary facilities (e.g. potable water, functioning toilet facilities and mobile health units).74 Numerous programmes—including those in India, the Philippines, South Africa and pilot cities of the collaborative United Nations Safe and Friendly Cities for All initiative—focus on reducing gender-based violence and risk of harassment in cities.

Initiatives designed to combat violence and harassment of women and girls in urban settings are increasing in all parts of the world. In the slums of New Delhi, young women and men have helped to make local parks, streets and public spaces safer and more accessible.<sup>76</sup>

## BOX 8. United Nations and local governments invest in safer cities for women

In June 2011, UNICEF, UN-HABITAT and UN Women jointly launched a five-year Safe and Friendly Cities for All initiative designed to increase safety and prevent and reduce violence—including sexual violence and harassment against women and girls—and mobilize and empower women's group and youth and children's advocates to shape their urban environment. The initiative currently supports eight large cities and capitals, including Beirut, Dushanbe, Manila, Marrakesh, Nairobi, Rio de Janeiro, San Jose and Tegucigalpa. Drawing on the use of innovative, gendersensitive and evidence-based approaches, Safe and Friendly Cities for All works to enable local authorities and advocates to take action to combat urban violence. The initiative also aims to ensure the capacity and engagement of women, youth and children in budgetary decision—making processes for urban development, infrastructure and services in their neighbourhoods. In the future, Safe and Friendly Cities for All plans to scale up innovative and effective solutions to end violence in vulnerable communities by, for example, improving street lighting and providing training to community-based police units.<sup>75</sup>

The Cape Town, South Africa township of Khayelitsha is working on reducing genderbased violence through better lighting, indoor toilets, more secure schools and increased training of police officers.77 Some cities have undertaken initiatives to reduce women's risk of harassment on public transport, particularly in overcrowded buses or trains. For example, women-only vehicles operate in Belarus, Brazil, Egypt, India, Japan, Mexico and the Philippines. Similarly, the first two carriages of Manila's light underground railway are reserved exclusively for women and children. During rush hour in Mexico, some buses and metro carriages are also reserved for women, with police escort to ensure the policy is respected.<sup>78</sup>

## Women's challenges

Political participation and ability to mobilize support for different causes are among the draws of urban environments for both women and men. However, women's participation also lags in urban settings. Women have attained positions as city council officers or mayors in many urban locations around the world; however, their representation remains limited despite quotas and other affirmative action mechanisms. Between 2003 and 2008,

women made up less than 5 per cent of mayors in Western Asia and Caribbean countries, and only 5 to 10 per cent in the countries of sub-Saharan Africa, South Eastern Asia, Central and South America, and Eastern and Western Europe. Out of the 77 countries or areas with available data, the ones with the highest proportion of women mayors include Latvia (25 per cent), Mauritius (40 per cent), New Zealand (26 per cent) and Serbia (26 per cent).<sup>79</sup>

Reasons for these low numbers include negative gender stereotypes; lack of family co-responsibilities for unpaid care work within households; difficulties combining family life, work life and politics; lack of financial resources to pursue a candidature; and the prevalence of a masculine model of political life. The lack of women in decision-making positions and a general absence of gender expertise among local decision makers significantly hinder women's engagement in—and integration of gender perspectives into—urban planning and design of infrastructure and services. In turn, lack of engagement limits the potential of women's specific needs being addressed.

A wide range of other factors challenges women alongside their male counterparts living in urban environments. These include inadequate housing and lack of access to water, sanitation, health care and transportation services. While both poor women and men in urban centres face inadequate housing and insecurity of land tenure and shelter, women-headed households often suffer disproportionately as a result of discriminatory laws and socio-cultural norms.

Despite progress on water access, some 141 million urbanites continued to rely on unimproved sources of drinking water in 2008, 81 with major health and social consequences. Though 29 per cent of developing countries' urban dwellers lack basic sanitation, 82 restricted access and expensive, poor or non-existent facilities can have severe implications for urban women's and girls' health, education and safety.

#### The way forward

Building and transforming cities that are people-centred and based on the principles of human rights, gender equality and wellbeing is critical for achieving sustainable development for all. Local governments and city councils play an important role in such transformation and in ensuring urban planning strategies for universal access to basic services, such as water and sanitation, energy and adequate housing and that take into account women's and girls' higher risk of gender-based violence in the market place and public transportation by putting in place lightening of streets, transport-stops and stations. Sustainable urban planning can foster equality, address the environmental, economic and social challenges of today, and prepare for urban populations of tomorrow. Crossministerial dialogue and strategic partnerships with key actors, including civil society and the private sector, would be required to promote an integrated and coordinated approach to sustainable development, drawing on their respective comparative advantages in their economic, social and environmental spheres. Women's full participation as citizens and decision-makers in such dialogues is critical.



## DECENT WORK IN A GREEN ECONOMY

## Importance to sustainable development

Decent work and job creation contribute to economic growth, poverty reduction, social progress and inclusion. Generating new opportunities for employment and income for women and men living in poverty can help them ensure that they and their children are healthy, educated, well-adjusted and able to contribute to the future labour force.

As countries transition to green economies, the labour market will gradually transform itself. New jobs will be created (e.g. production of clean-energy devices and services), while others will be substituted (e.g. from land filling and waste incineration to recycling), eliminated, transformed or redefined as day-to-day skill sets, working methods and profiles are being 'greened'.83 In an ideal scenario, such changing patterns of production, consumption and employment would have systemic and synergistic effects that will benefit women and men equally. This would require eliminating gender-based occupational segregation, gender pay gaps and other forms of labour market discrimination. It would also require full and equal access to all forms of education, skills building, employment, and management and leadership positions.

#### Women's contributions

Between 1980 and 2009, women's labour force participation increased from 50 to 52 per cent, while the male rate fell from 82 to 78 per cent. In 2010, the global unemployment rate for men stood at 6 per cent and for women at 6.2 per cent.84 Though unemployment rates appear similar, there are significant and systemic differences between women's and men's jobs. Only a small portion of employed women work in industry (18 per cent compared to 26 per cent of all employed men). Women are more likely than men to work in agriculture (37 per cent of all employed women compared to 33 per cent of all employed men), and in the service sector (46 per cent of all employed women compared to 41 per cent of men's employment).85

Renewable energy will likely generate a large share of green jobs. In 2008, this sector employed approximately 2.3 million people, and projections show that by 2030, employment in alternative energies in wind and solar alone will rise to 2.1 million jobs and 6.3 million jobs, respectively.86 Women account for approximately 20 per cent of energy sector jobs, most of which are in non-technical fields such as administration and public relations.87 In April 2012, a coalition of nine countries launched the Clean Energy Education and Empowerment Initiative to attract more young women to careers and leadership positions in the energy field.88 The member countries of this coalition are Australia, Denmark, Mexico, Norway, South Africa, Sweden, the United Arab Emirates, the United States and the United Kingdom.

The export sector provides an important source of waged employment for women in some countries and regions. Women's participation in trade and services has contributed not only to their own economic empowerment, but also to national competitiveness.89 For example, women are heavily engaged in manufacturing ready-made garments: they make up more than 80 per cent of such workers in Bangladesh and more than 75 per cent in Kenya.90 The expansion of the information and communications technology sector has increased employment opportunities for skilled women in several countries. In past decades, data-entry and data-processing work generated employment in countries including Barbados, Jamaica and the Philippines. More recently, software call centres and telecommunications-related work has generated employment in countries such as India and Malaysia.91 In some cases, higher female employment in the export sector has been accompanied by wage gains. Evidence from China shows that women workers receive higher wages in the new export-related industries than in older state industries.92

Innovative schemes to improve workers' rights in the informal sector involve labour inspections, trade unions and organizing by workers themselves. In the State of Gujarat in India, for example, the Self-Employed Women's Association assists in monitoring the conditions of homeworkers and establishing minimum piecework rates consistent with the minimum wage.<sup>93</sup> In the Sudan, women working in the informal sector have formed associations to cover their health needs.<sup>94</sup>

## вох 9. Greening social protection and ecosystem programmes

Social protection floors are important tools for reducing poverty, stimulating economies and hedging against the impacts of economic crises. Though conceived primarily as a socioeconomic crisis mitigation strategy, social protection floors can also make a broader and longer-term contribution to attaining sustainable development if they reach beyond the social and economic space to integrate the environmental development dimension. Several countries—including Brazil, Ecuador and India—have pioneered social protection strategies that result in improving not only peoples' lives, but also local economies and the environment.

In the lead-up to Rio+20, Brazil is encouraging other countries to follow in the footsteps of what it refers to as a 'socio-environmental protection floor': the Bolsa Verde (Green Grant) Support Programme on Environmental Conservation, which was launched in mid-2011 and concedes a trimestrial benefit of approximately \$150 to poor families who adopt environmental conservation actions. Bolsa Verde delivers cash through and augments an older social protection scheme, the Bolsa Família (Family Grant) federal cash transfer programme, which provides the poorest families with financial support on the condition that children attend school, are vaccinated and are monitored for growth and weight, and that pregnant women receive pre- and postnatal care.

The two programmes present an example of an integrated strategy that cuts across all three dimensions of sustainable development: Bolsa Família has a socioeconomic mandate of improving the quality of life of the poor in the present and a long-term poverty eradication view of producing more educated, healthier citizens better positioned to break the cycle of poverty and dependence on government assistance. Bolsa Verde augments the socioeconomic and adds an environmental dimension, generating additional income for the poor in the present and helping conserve environmental resources and protect livelihoods that depend on them for future generations.

Though programme objectives do not explicitly mention gender or women, programme design demonstrates a gender sensitivity that marks most successful sustainable development initiatives. Fealth care for pregnant women is a condition of receiving support, and its amounts vary based on whether or not a member of a given household is pregnant at the time. Women are the primary recipients of funds transfers and make up 93 percent of programme debit-card holders in the hope that this setup benefits children the most. Beneficiaries, almost always new to using debit cards, also receive financial training—an important capacity-building step towards financial inclusion of women.

Gender-specific programme outcomes have been similarly positive. Women beneficiaries have experienced a rise in household bargaining power, particularly in Brazil's poorest regions; not depending on their husbands for at least a portion of the family income has enabled women to better negotiate with their husbands and play a more active role in household decision making. Women also report attaining higher social status in the community and a new availability of credit as local merchants recognize the improved purchasing power.

Stressing the need for policies that encompass all three dimensions of sustainable development, the Government of Brazil is calling for including the concept of socio-environmental protection in the final outcome of Rio+20—and other countries have already adopted similar strategies.

Established in 2008, Ecuador's Socio Bosque Programme offers economic incentives to individual landowners, peasants and indigenous communities who voluntarily commit to the conservation and protection of native forests, marshes, or other native vegetation for a period of 20 years. The programme aims to combat deforestation, reduce greenhouse gas emissions and improve the living conditions of rural populations.

In India, the National Rural Employment Guarantee Scheme is a cash-for-work programme that also offers a guarantee of employment and specific wage to the rural unemployed and underemployed. Launched in 2005, it is an example of a social protection floor initiative that contributes to environmental protection through the creation of productive green jobs that focuses on natural resource generation. The programme has also been an entry point for access, at work site facilities, to other social services, including health services and safe water.

#### Women's challenges

Worldwide, women are less likely to have access to decent work than men. Indigenous women, women with disabilities, women refugees, women in post-conflict settings and migrant women, face additional constraints in the labour market. As a result of gender norms and attitudes and gender-segregated labour markets, women are disproportionately concentrated in informal and vulnerable96 forms of work; they are concentrated in low-productivity jobs; they earn less; and they do disproportionate amounts of unpaid domestic labour and family care work. Women's increased participation in paid work has not been accompanied by a reduction in their unpaid work, partly because economic policies tend to overlook the gender distribution of paid and unpaid work. Power relations and institutional barriers hamper women from advancing to more senior and managerial positions.97 A lack of options pushes many women into subsistence or needs-driven entrepreneurship.

The differentiated impacts on women and men of an economic transition to sustainable economies will depend on a range of factors, such as their existing labour-force participation; the extent of gender-based occupational segregation; existing education levels and skill sets; and policies and programmes that make green education and training relevant and accessible to all people.

Worldwide, the number of adolescents and young people is at an all-time high. There are over 1 billion youths between the ages of 15 to 24.98 Creating decent work for them is a global challenge. On average, young women and men are two to three times more likely to be unemployed than adults. Labour force participation rates for young women are lower than for young men. Improved access to training opportunities will help increase the employability of young women and improve their future earnings and socioeconomic conditions.

However, fewer women than men pursue training in science, technology, engineering or mathematics, fields that provide the necessary skills for accessing many green jobs and contributing to innovation and technology development. In 2007, the global median share of female students was only 21 per cent in



engineering, manufacturing and construction.<sup>99</sup> In 2008, women made up less than one third of graduates in computer science.<sup>100</sup> This global data masks some important variations across countries. For example, Uruguay and Mongolia are closest to achieving gender parity in engineering. In countries such as Germany, Japan, United States, United Kingdom and Switzerland, women represent only one tenth to one fifth of graduates.<sup>101</sup>

## The way forward

Equitably transitioning to sustainable economies and decent work will require putting in place a range of measures. Investing in women's equal and effective participation in the workforce is central to achieving sustainable, inclusive growth and human development. Labour market institutions need to monitor and facilitate market adjustments to ensure ample opportunities are created and adjustment costs are minimized. It is important to adopt explicit measures to ensure that women are not marginalized in sectors with precarious and low-paid jobs.<sup>102</sup> Efforts are also required to ensure decent work for both women and men and to support women's career advancement to managerial positions.

## BOX 10. Access to employment and decent work

Work is central to people's well-being and their social and economic development. The International Labour Organization developed the Decent Work Agenda, which is achieved through four strategic objectives—with gender equality as a cross-cutting objective. The four direct objectives are creating jobs; guaranteeing rights at work; extending social protection; and promoting social dialogue. There is broad international consensus among governments, employers, workers and civil society that productive employment and decent work are key elements to reducing poverty and achieving sustainable development.

Governments have taken a range of measures to support the decent work agenda. The new gender equality law, adopted in Spain in 2007, encourages reconciliation of work and family life and promotes equality plans in public companies. In Italy, legislation obliges public and private firms employing more than 100 employees to provide biannual sex-disaggregated data on work conditions. In Jordan, the government amended its labour laws in 2008 to include domestic workers.<sup>103</sup>

To support family responsibilities, the Nordic countries (which are also the countries with the highest female labour force participation rates) have undertaken the most systematic promotion of equal caregiving roles and equal sharing of unpaid work. <sup>104</sup> In Iceland, the length of parental leave is 9 months, divided into thirds, with three months for the mother, three for the father (non-transferable) and three months that parents can share. <sup>105</sup> The Dai-ichi Life Insurance, Japan, established a family-friendly system that includes various employee benefits such as maternity and paternity leave, shortened working hours for childcare, and subsidies for childcare expenses. As a result, the rate of male employees taking paternity leave has increased from less than 2 per cent in 2004 to 34 per cent in 2011. <sup>106</sup>

Care services have targeted specific groups. In Colombia, community nursery homes have been established to enable poor families to engage in paid work. <sup>107</sup> In the Dominican Republic, services for care of the children of university students and lower-income employees of the university have been established. In some cases, change is promoted by focusing on the role of men. <sup>108</sup> The Sonke Gender Justice Network in South Africa uses innovative approaches to strengthen men's capacity and commitment to care for children including orphans affected by HIV and AIDS in rural areas. <sup>109</sup> In Jamaica, the Bureau of Women's Affairs partnered with NGOs and social agencies, such as Fathers Incorporated, to support and strengthen men's involvement in caregiving.

Social protection floors are needed to cushion the negative effects on the most vulnerable. Efforts must be stepped up to ensure that women and girls have equal opportunities in education, training and employment, as well as equal access and ownership of productive assets to enable their engagement in green employment and the setting up of green

businesses. Special measures in areas such as reliable and affordable provisions of care facilities and services for children, the sick and elderly, as well as incentive systems for employers, could support the increased number of women in these sectors. Effective social dialogue among all stakeholders will be essential if there is to be a just transition.

#### **HEALTH**

## Importance to sustainable development

Sustainable development cannot be achieved if people are not healthy or if their functional capacity is undermined by disease, hunger or insecurity. Environmental degradation, mismanaged resources and unhealthy consumption and lifestyle patterns are the primary factors affecting health.

In addition, ill health begets poverty and limits economic development. The link between health and the environment is more apparent among the poor, who often live in unsafe locations, including underserved rural areas in city slums and outskirts. 110 Such segments of the population are more likely to be subjected to pollution and other health risks in their homes, communities and work places; they are also more likely to consume insufficient nutrition.

Such circumstances, many of which result from pervasive social inequalities, combine to undermine the affected communities' ability to lead socially and economically productive lives and can have an effect as profound as disrupting a poor country's ability to develop. Further influencing this dynamic are global trends of urbanization, pollution, and lack of appropriate sanitation and access to basic services among the world's poorest citizens.

#### Women's contributions

Recognizing women's contributions to health implies recognizing their role and value beyond being recipients of social and development services. When women earn income, they reinvest significantly more of it into their families than men do." Women also provide the bulk of global healthcare services in both formal and informal settings, as well as in their homes. Data indicates that women comprise over 50 per cent of the health workforce in many countries, which translates to 30 million of the almost 60 million full-time health workers around the world."

Still, women remain concentrated in occupations that are perceived to be of lower status—including working as nurses, midwives and community health services

providers. Fewer women are among the highly trained and better paid professionals.

Beyond those formally engaged in the health field, millions of women are informal providers of unpaid health care. "3 Women devote countless hours of unpaid care work to their households and communities. For example, when AIDS enters a tightly knit social community or the household, women invariably are the first to respond.

Data from sub-Saharan Africa reveals the economic value of unpaid care work in the context of HIV and AIDS, and the numbers are staggering: tens of thousands of unpaid female caregivers between the ages of 20 and 49 routinely donate on average of 69 hours per month to care for the sick and vulnerable—a contribution equal to significant economic value. He while resilient, women need support to mitigate the impact of serious diseases and disabilities, particularly when their countries' or communities' health systems are not functioning well enough to provide required services—or simply do not exist.

In Malawi, research shows that social protection programmes, such as cash transfers to rural young girls to stay in school, are resulting in reduced HIV and sexually transmitted infections. In addition to decreased HIV prevalence, the study found that girls receiving cash transfers chose younger partners and had less frequent sexual activity than girls who did not receive payments.



A study from South Africa provides evidence that a combined microfinance and training intervention has the potential to generate social and economic benefits, and lead to significant reductions in levels of intimate partner violence among programme participants over programmatic time frames. These examples illustrate that there are important benefits of a multi-sectoral approach to promoting health and well-being that embeds gender equality at the centre.

#### Women's challenges

Though women tend to live six to eight years longer than men on a global scale, there are considerable regional disparities. For example, African women score lower than the rest of the world in terms of life expectancy at birth, which was benchmarked at only 54 years in 2007. In contrast, women of 35 countries among other regions can expect to live past 80 years old. 115

Still, beyond odd statistical phenomena—such as the leading cause of death among adolescent girls being attributed to traffic injuries in

high- and middle-income countries—the leading health concerns of women and girls are concentrated in developing nations and among the poorest and most marginalized segments of more industrialized societies.

While cardiovascular disease, mental health issues leading to suicide and other forms of self-harm, and other similarly serious health issues plague and kill women in both advanced and developing societies, the most serious health challenges fall on those who already carry the heaviest socioeconomic burdens. Practically all maternal deaths occur in developing countries. While all women and girls are at risk of unwanted pregnancies and unsafe abortions, those born in less advanced societies are disadvantaged by lacking access to information and modern forms of family planning that could prevent such situations. Pregnancy-related complications are the leading cause of death among 15- to 19-year-old women in developing countries, and unsafe abortions make a substantial contribution to the annual death toll. The death toll due to cervical cancer is also considerably higher in the developing world due to practically nonexistent screening.



## **BOX 11. Health Enables Returns project builds** a peer-to-peer model for health education

The most promising of recent global initiatives designed to address root causes of persistent maternal mortality is Every Woman, Every Child. Launched by the United Nations Secretary-General under the Global Strategy for Women's and Children's Health, the initiative aims to save the lives of 16 million women and children by 2015.<sup>116</sup>

Since its inception in September 2010, 203 partners—including governments, donor countries and philanthropic institutions, UN agencies and other multilateral organizations, representatives of civil society and the business community, health care workers and their professional associations, and academic and research institutions—have made 217 commitments to the Every Woman, Every Child effort." Such commitments range from ensuring service delivery that guarantees women and children access to life-saving prevention, treatment and care, to policy commitments that mobilize political support, improve accountability, and commit financial resources.

One innovation of this campaign is the Health Enables Returns, or HERproject, which responds to the health education needs of millions of young women working in export factories in developing countries. Many of the young women in factories are migrant workers and have to endure long work hours; they are also unable to access traditional support networks that could assist them with their healthcare needs. To These women also have low levels of health awareness, including reproductive health issues. In response to this gap in health education and access, HERproject invests in training factory workers, line supervisors, clinic nurses and human resource staff to educate their peers on health topics ranging from family planning and pre- and post-natal care to nutrition, sexually transmitted diseases, sexual harassment and violence.

## The way forward

Advances in sustainable development are intrinsically tied to addressing health needs. To this end, policies must be put in place to eliminate health inequalities, particularly gender-based inequalities; ensure health is prioritized in all settings, sectors, policies, and planning processes; address the social and structural determinants of health, and invest in developing health systems that are designed to address and respond to the different needs of women and men.

More than ever before, the global development community has recognized the improvement of women's health and the achievement of gender equality as critical priorities. To move towards gender equality in health implies both the elimination of discrimination against women and attention to the differentiated needs of women including, but not limited to, reproductive health. Women's health cannot be defined only by their biological reproductive role; it must include their general health, which is affected by social, cultural, and economic factors.

#### **EDUCATION**

## Importance to sustainable development

Education is the most productive investment nations can make with a view to economic recovery and building prosperous, healthy and equitable societies. Education empowers individuals to fully participate in society, claim their rights and achieve their optimal potential. It improves individual livelihoods and employment opportunities for future generations.

Education—and, more specifically, quality education—goes beyond providing job market opportunities. It promotes the skills necessary for innovation and the values, behaviours and lifestyles required for a sustainable future and for social transformation based on equality, human rights, justice, sustainable growth and human development.

Educational opportunities have expanded over the last decades, enabling a larger share of the world population to access formal education. The ratio of girls' to boys' enrolment

has steadily improved, reaching 97 girls per 100 boys at the primary level, 96 girls per 100 boys at the secondary level and 108 women per 100 men at the tertiary level in 2008.<sup>121</sup> As more children complete primary school, the demand for secondary education has been growing. As higher levels of competencies, knowledge and skills are required by the labour market, access to secondary education has become increasingly important. Yet, in many countries children are unable to pursue secondary education due to its costs, household chores or employment obligations.<sup>122</sup>

#### Women's contributions

It is widely acknowledged that gender equality in education is key to achieving equality, development and peace. The global society ranks better on education than other development indicators: two thirds of the world's countries achieved gender parity in primary enrolment, worldwide.123 Women's enrolment at the tertiary level has grown almost twice as fast as that of men over the last four decades in two thirds of the countries with available data—mainly due to social mobility, enhanced income potential and international pressure to narrow the gender gap. The vast majority of young people in the world are literate, and improvements in youth literacy rates have been accompanied by declining gender disparities.124

The proportion of female teachers has increased globally since 1995. The largest increase occurred in East Asia and the Pacific, where women now account for almost half (49 per cent) of all secondary school teachers. The reverse is true in sub-Saharan Africa, where the proportion of female secondary school teachers decreased from 33 per cent to 29 per cent between 1995 and 2009. Globally, women account for 62 per cent of primary school teachers, compared to 49 per cent for lower secondary levels of education.<sup>125</sup> Female teachers play an important role as role models for girls and boys, particularly in fields such as science and technology. However, both women and men teachers can perpetuate gender stereotypes and thereby expand or limit young people's opportunities.126

Education is critical to attaining development objectives. Data suggests that if all students

in low-income countries were to acquire basic reading skills, 171 million people—12 per cent of the world's poorest—could be lifted out of poverty. One additional year of schooling can increase a woman's earnings by 10 to 20 per cent. Educated women are more likely to attain decent work conditions, delay childbearing, resist violence and participate in political processes. 128

There are also direct linkages between women's education and health—not only in the sense of well-being but also straightforward survival, for both women and their children.<sup>129</sup> Women with post-primary education are five times more likely than illiterate women to be educated on HIV prevention. In sub-Saharan Africa, if mothers had at least some secondary education, they could save approximately

1.8 million children's lives (based on 2008 data). It is estimated that between 1970 and 2009, increased education among women of reproductive age was responsible for preventing some 4 million deaths of children younger than 5 years.<sup>130</sup>

#### Women's challenges

Despite global understanding of education's importance and the long-term commitment by governments and other stakeholders to ensure education for all, attaining this goal continues to be a challenge. As with other development and social challenges, women are more disadvantaged due to centuries-old cultural norms that have prioritized male advancement and often even prohibited that

## **BOX 12. United Arab Emirates promotes women's participation in sciences of the future**

According to the Government of the United Arab Emirates<sup>131</sup>, women's higher-education enrolment in the Emirates is among the highest in the world as compared to men: 41 women per 22 men.<sup>132</sup> However, women's participation in the fields of science, technology, engineering and math (STEM) is still low compared to their male counterparts. The government is seeking to bridge this gender gap and to empower both women and men to play a more active role in the transition towards a green and knowledge-based economy. The Government of Abu Dhabi partnered with the Massachusetts Institute of Technology to establish the Masdar Institute of Science and Technology for graduate studies in renewable energy, sustainability, environment, water resources, systems engineering and management, and advanced materials science and management.

The Institute commenced in 2011, and targeted efforts have sought to promote women's enrolment (currently at 37 per cent) to ensure women are equipped to become pioneers and innovators in a green economy.<sup>133</sup> During an April 2011 forum of the Clean Energy, Education and Empowerment Initiative in Abu Dhabi, female leaders highlighted the important role for women in the clean energy revolution, and the need to overcome barriers to their participation and leadership in clean energy-related fields. "Increasing the representation of women in [STEM] can benefit society through ... drawing from a larger pool of talent ... to develop the clean energy solutions that will mitigate the impact of climate change," said Dr. Georgeta Vidican, Assistant Professor in Masdar's Engineering Systems and Management Programme, during a panel discussion on women's leadership in clean energy. Findings from the Institute's research demonstrate that women with female role models are twice as likely to consider STEM careers in the STEM field as women who do not—which means that the more women work in these fields, the more will follow in their footsteps.

of women. Consequently, women account for two thirds of the world's 774 million illiterate adults, and their share has remained unchanged over the past two decades. More than half of the 72 million children out of school are girls.<sup>134</sup>

Compared to participation at the primary level, a significantly lower share of the population attends secondary school, and only 39 per cent of countries have equal proportions of boys and girls enrolled in secondary education.<sup>135</sup>
The distribution of tertiary enrolment across various fields of study shows gender inequalities worldwide, with women dominating the spheres of education, health and welfare, social sciences, humanities and art yet severely underrepresented in the fields of science and engineering.<sup>136</sup> Women

also remain underrepresented in research and development, be it in academia, the public sector or private companies, while men continue to dominate the highest levels of study, accounting for 56 per cent of PhD graduates and 71 per cent of researchers.

Furthermore, improved access to tertiary or higher education does not always translate into career opportunities for women, including opportunities to use doctorate degrees in the field of research. <sup>137</sup> The quality and content of curricula also remains problematic, often perpetuating the same traditional gender stereotypes as the cultures in which it is developed—even among more advanced societies.



Women's exclusion and over-representation in particular educational fields is grounded in socioeconomic discrimination that persists within the family, community, market and state. Such discrimination is often rooted in patrilineal principles of family and kinship systems that view only the male child as a permanent member of the natal family and its economic and social lifeline. By contrast, girls are seen as members of their future marital families, destined by marriage to contribute to another household and therefore often viewed as dispensable, not worth the investment of education or other resources—particularly when such resources are scarce. A greater investment in education is consequently made in boys.

Familiar stereotypes of woman as homemaker and man as breadwinner—and associated trait stereotypes of the nurturing, emotive, physically appealing woman and the rational, technologically adept and intellectual mancontinue to entrench women on the margins of education and exclude them from certain iobs. Factors that contribute to such exclusion include sex segregation, early marriage, control over female mobility and interaction, lack of gender-appropriate school facilities and infrastructure, lack of safe and secure transportation and school environments, and lack of state support for women's education. Such inequalities are exacerbated in times of economic and financial crises, natural disasters and political conflicts, further undermining economic opportunities for disadvantaged girls and boys, particularly those born to indigenous and minority groups in remote rural areas.

### The way forward

Challenges in the education sector are not unique to the developing world. Quality of education needs improving the world over, from providing teachers and aspirants with quality education before placing them in classrooms to recruiting more teachers, improving their working conditions and bringing their salaries in line with the profession's importance to society's continual advancement.

The concepts of gender equality, women's empowerment and human rights must be integrated into primary, secondary, tertiary and higher education. Measures must be taken to encourage both women and men to pursue non-traditional areas of study, such as science and technology for women, and nursing and other care fields for men.

Matching available education opportunities to market demands is another area that needs attention. Young people need quality education that prepares them for the expectations of the modern labour market, including knowledge, skills and values related to sustainable growth and human development. Current global challenges make it more urgent than ever to sustain and advance the gains made in the last decade in the field of education—gains achieved as a direct result of strong political leadership and commitment, combined with sound policies and financing.

Governments must ensure that the recruitment, retention and promotion of teachers at all levels are based on principles of equality and non-discrimination to ensure women's full participation the national and the global workforce, including in senior management positions.





## THE FUTURE WOMEN WANT

The paradigm shift towards sustainable development must be based on the premise of human rights, gender equality and women's empowerment. This shift requires a renewed focus on people-centred development that prioritizes the expansion of capabilities, the eradication of poverty and the reduction of all types of inequalities, and that promotes the rights and agency of women. It is a shift to a world where women and men, girls and boys—not profit—are placed at the centre of action and decision-making, and all people take responsibility for sustainable production and consumption and respect the earth's resource limits.

The new development agenda should value women's unique, adaptive and innovative potential, and their concrete contributions, paid and unpaid, to their families, societies and economies. Stronger measures are needed to reduce the unpaid care work women do, and to share this work among women, men and institutions more equitably.

The three dimensions of sustainable development and their integration cannot be fully addressed without recognizing the centrality of gender equality and women's empowerment.

The post-Rio+20 and post-2015 development agenda needs to be built on this paradigm shift and draw from the principles of the global normative framework developed over the last decades, including the comprehensive standards laid out in the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women, the Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action and other commitments such as the Programme of Action of the International Conference on Population and Development.

Any new set of goals must be built on the MDGs, mainstream gender equality and women's empowerment and contain gender-sensitive targets and indicators. There should also be a separate gender equality goal that moves beyond the current MDG3 and captures the economic, social and environmental dimensions of sustainable development. UN Women will continue to work with governments, civil society and other stakeholders to develop any new set of goals.

The 2005 strategic priorities of the Millennium Project Task Force are still relevant and should

be core components of this enhanced goal on gender equality and women's empowerment. These include promoting women and girls' full and equal access to post-primary education; protecting and securing their sexual and reproductive health and rights; investing in infrastructure that reduces their time burdens; guaranteeing their property and inheritance rights; eliminating gender inequality in employment; increasing women's participation in parliaments and local governments; and combating sexual and gender-based violence against women and girls.<sup>138</sup>

The new framework should be universal and based on human rights principles. It should capture poverty, deprivation and other inequalities that intersect with gender inequality, such as discrimination on the basis of age, income, location (rural or urban), race, ethnicity, disability and other factors, including the specific situations of indigenous peoples and people living with HIV and AIDS. This framework must also include a specific target and indicators on ending violence against women and girls. It is critical that the ideals and vision of the Future We Want drives the process of developing the goals, targets and indicators for the new development framework.

Accountability for all actors—governments, the United Nations and other international organizations, international financial institutions and regional banks, civil society and the private sector—should be integrated into the new paradigm and framework. The participation of civil society, including women's rights organizations, must be central to the discussions and debates around the setting of goals and priorities and in monitoring and evaluating progress.

We have all the knowledge, technology and resources required to act *now*. We need leadership and political commitment for urgent and comprehensive action. Women are dynamic partners for promoting coherence, integration and innovation in sustainable development.

We call on governments to reaffirm and strengthen the global norms on gender equality and women's empowerment. We call on governments to accelerate the full implementation of those standards. We therefore call for action to:

# A. Enable women to contribute to and benefit from sustainable development

- Provide universal access to essential services, such as safe drinking water and basic sanitation, energy, education and health, including sexual and reproductive health, and ensure equal representation of women in management and service provision.
- Guarantee women's right to own productive resources and assets, such as land, natural resources, finance, technology and information, in order to enable women's economic empowerment and sustainable management of these resources.
- Ensure that women participate in and benefit from education and employment opportunities in sustainable economies.
- Develop green jobs that have a strong focus on women's economic empowerment.
- Scale up and transfer cost-effective gender-responsive technologies such as labour and time-saving technologies.
- Adopt the social protection floor approach with a gender perspective to provide basic social protection for all.
- Take measures to ensure long-term financial support for basic social services for women and men, girls and boys, particularly those working in the informal sector.

# B. Leverage women's agency and leadership for sustainable development

- Promote women's equal access to and full participation in decisionmaking and governance processes at all levels in the economic, social and environmental dimensions.
- Take temporary special measures to accelerate women's access to decision-making processes.
- Ensure that women, including young women, are equal participants in the development of any sustainable development institutional framework, mechanism or implementation tool.
- Recognize the contributions of women and women's organizations to innovation and transformation.

# C. Create an enabling environment for gender equality in sustainable development

- Prioritize gender equality and women's empowerment in policies and strategies on trade, development cooperation, foreign direct investment, transfer of technology and capacity development.
- Integrate gender perspectives into national planning and budgeting, implementation, monitoring and evaluation frameworks in order to align gender equality commitments with sustainable development goals.
- Ensure dedicated financial investments for gender equality and women's empowerment in all programmes and projects, including for community-based programmes and infrastructure support.
- Engage women scientists, innovators and decision makers fully in the development and design process of green technologies.
- Improve the quality of development cooperation and increase its development impact by prioritizing gender equality and women's empowerment.
- Invest in knowledge transfer and technical assistance for capacity-building on gender equality and sustainable development.
- Collect, analyse and disseminate data disaggregated by sex, age and rural/ urban areas and other factors, and develop gender-sensitive indicators to serve as a basis for gender-responsive policy.

## D. Establish a gender-responsive development framework

- Fully recognize and integrate gender equality and human rights in the overall mandate of any future institutional framework for sustainable development.
- Elaborate and adopt a specific sustainable development goal on gender equality and women's empowerment and support the integration of gender-sensitive targets and indicators in all other goals.
- Promote coordination, coherence and integration of gender equality in the implementation of commitments for sustainable development, including the Beijing Platform for Action.

#### **ENDNOTES**

- 1.World Bank. 2012. The Global Monitoring Report 2012: Food Prices, Nutrition, and the Millennium Development Goals. http://go.worldbank.org/B8CQo9GOZo.
- 2. United Nations. 1945. Charter of the United Nations and Statute of the International Court of Justice. www.un.org/en/documents/charter/index.shtml.
- 3. United Nations. 2009. Statement of the CEDAW Committee on Gender and Climate Change, CEDAW, 44th session, New York. www.2.ohch.corg/english/ bodies/cedaw/docs/Gender\_and\_climate\_change.pdf.
- 4. United Nations website: http://www.un.org/esa/dsd/agenda21/.
- 5. Ibid
- 6. See definition in UNDP. 2009. Unpaid care work. Policy Brief, Gender equality and poverty reduction series, Issue 01, October 2009. http://content.undp.org/go/newsroom/publications/womens-empowerment/policybrief-100201.en.
- 7. United Nations. 2000. Review and appraisal of the implementation of the Beijing Platform for Action, Report of the Secretary-General, E/CN.6/2000/PC/2. www. un.org/womenwatch/daw/csw/ecn6-2000-pc2.pdf.
- 8. United Nations. 2010. Review of the implementation of the Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action, the outcomes of the twenty-third special session of the General Assembly and its contribution to shaping a gender perspective towards the full realization of the Millennium Development Goals, Report of the Secretary-General, E/2010/4–E/CN.6/2010/2. www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/beijingts/documentation.html.
- United Nations. 2000. United Nations Millennium Declaration, resolution adopted by the General Assembly, 55/2. www.un.org/millennium/declaration/ares552e.htm.
- 10. World Bank. 2012. World Development Report 2012: Gender Equality and Development. http://go.worldbank.org/6R2KGVEXPo.
- 11. United Nations. 2010. Report of the Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights defenders, Margaret Sekaggya. 16th session of the Human Rights Council. A/HRC/16/44. www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/ hrcouncil/docs/16session/A-HRC-16-44.pdf
- 12. Ciudad Saludable website: www. ciudadsaludable.org/en/index.html.
- 13. Nidhi Tandon. 2012. Empowerment of women in a green economy in the context of sustainable development and poverty eradication: the case for community-based, gender-equitable and human-ribased economic development. Background paper commissioned by UN Women for Rio+20, unpublished.
- 14. UNEP and GRID-Arendal. 2004. The Environment Times, Poverty Times #2. www.grida.no/publications/et/ep2/page/2500.aspx.
- 15. Bina Agarwal. 2010. Gender and Green Governance: the Political Economy of Women's Presence within and beyond Community Forestry; and Buckingham. Call in the Women. Nature 468:502; and, Agarwal 2009. Does Women's Proportional Strength Affect their Participation? Governing Local Forests in South Asia. World Development 38(1).
- 16. UNEP. 2011. Green Economy Report 2011. Chapter on Water www.unep.org/greeneconomy/greeneconomyreport/tabid/29846/default.aspx.
- 17. Ibid.
- 18. See, for example, International Food Policy Research Institute and Veolia Water. 2011. Finding the Blue Path for A Sustainable Economy: A White Paper. www. veoliawaterna.com/north-america-water/ressources/ documents/1/19979,IFPRI-White-Paper.pdf.
- 19. United Nations. 2010. The Human right to water and sanitation. General Assembly Resolution 64/292. www.un.org/en/ga/64/resolutions.shtml; and United Nations. 2011. The human right to safe drinking water. Human Rights Council Resolution 18/1. wwwz.ohchr.org/english/bodies/hrcouncil/18session/resolutions.htm.
- 20. United Nations. 2005. Water for Life Decade 2005-2015. UN Water. www.un.org/ waterforlifedecade/pdf/waterforlifebklt-e.pdf.
- 21. Water.org. nd. Water facts. http://water.org/water-crisis/water-facts/women/.
- 22. Amy J. Pickerings and Jennifer Davis. 2012. Freshwater Availability and Water Fetching Distance Affect Child Health in Sub-Saharan Africa. Environmental Science and Technology, Standford University. http://pubs.acs.org/doi/abs/10.1021/es203177v.

- 23. Céline Nauges and Jon Strand. 2011. Water hauling and girls' school attendance: some new evidence from Ghana. World Bank. May 26, 2011. http://water.worldbank.org/ sites/water.worldbank.org/files/Water%20hauling%20 and%20Girls%20school%20attendabce\_Ghana\_Strand%20 &%20Nauges%2026%20May%202011 0.pdf.
- 24. United Nations. nd. Gender, Water and Sanitation: A Policy Brief. UN Water and the Interagency Network on Women and Gender Equality in support of the International Decade for Action, 'Water for Life', 2005-2015. www.un.org/waterforlifedecade/pdf/un\_water\_policy\_brief\_2\_gender.pdf.
- 25. SOPPECOM. 2009. Situational Analysis of Women Water Professionals in South Asia. http:// governance-iwlearn.org/wp-content/uploads/2011/08/ women-water-professionals sacin.pdf.
- 26. UNEP and GRID-Arendal. 2004. The Environment Times, Poverty Times #2. www.grida.no/publications/et/ep2/page/2500.aspx.
- 27. Rainbow World Fund website: www.rainbowfund.org/links/projects.html.
- 28. Jim Schultz. 2000. Bolivia's Water War Victory. Third World Traveler. Earth Island Journal, Autumn 2000. www.thirdworldtraveler.com/ South\_America/Bolivia\_WaterWarVictory.html.
- 29. United Nations. 2012. On the Right Track: Good practices in realising the rights to water and sanitation. Report of the United Nations Special Rapporteur on the human right to safe drinking water and sanitation. www.ohchr.org/
- 30. The Water Dialogues South Africa. www. waterdialogues.org/south-africa/index.htm.
- 31. UNEP. 2011. Green Economy Report 2011. Chapter on Agriculture. www.unep.org/greeneconomy/greeneconomyreport/tabid/29846/default.aspx.
- 32. FAO. 2010. State of Food Insecurity in the World 2010. http://www.fao.org/docrep/013/i1683e/i1683e.pdf.
- 33. FAO. 2011. The state of the world's land and water resources for food and agriculture (SOLAW) Managing systems at risk. www.fao.org/nr/solaw/the-book/en/.
- 34. UNEP. 2011. Green Economy Report 2011. Chapter on Agriculture. www.unep.org/greeneconomy/greeneconomyreport/tabid/29846/default.aspx.
- 35. FAO. 2011. The state of the world's land and water resources for food and agriculture (SOLAW) Managing systems at risk. www.fao.org/nr/solaw/the-book/en/.
- 36. FAO 2011. The State of Food and Agriculture 2010-2011, Women in Agriculture: Closing the gender gap for development. www.fao.org/docrep/013/12050e/12050e00.htm.
- 37. Ibio
- 38. FAO. 2011. The role of women in agriculture, ESA Working Paper No. 11-02. www.fao.org/docrep/013/am307e/am307eoo.pdf.
- 39. United Nations. 2012. The empowerment of rural women and their role in poverty and hunger eradication, development and current challenges, report of the Secretary-General, E/CN.6/2012/3. www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/csw/csw56/documentation.htm.
- 40. Ibid
- 41. ILC and the Institute for Poverty, Land and Agrarian Studies. 2011. Securing women's access to land: linking research and action. An overview of action-research projects in Southern Africa. Synthesis Report No. 15.
- 42. United Nations. 2012. The empowerment of rural women and their role in poverty and hunger eradication, development and current challenges, report of the Secretary-General, E/CN.6/2012/3. www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/csw/csw56/documentation.htm.
- 43. FAO. 2011. The role of women in agriculture, ESA Working Paper No. 11-02. www.fao.org/docrep/013/am307e/am307eoo.pdf.
- 44. Ibio
- 45. Ibio
- 46. International Food Policy Research Institute.
  1996. Food Security and Nutrition Implications of
  Intrahousehold Bias: A review of literature, FCND
  Discussion Paper No. 19. www.ifpri.org/sites/default/
  files/publications/pubs\_divs\_fcnd\_dp\_papers\_dp19.pdf.
- 47. N.O. Onofiok and D.O. Nnanyelugo. 1998. Weaning foods in West Africa: nutritional problems and possible solutions, Food and Nutrition Bulletin, Vol. 19, No. 1, 1998. http://archive.unu.edu/unupress/food/V191e/cho6.htm.

- 48. OECD. 2011. Gender inequality and the MDGs; what are the missing dimensions? At issue. September 2010. www.oecd.org/dataoecd/11/56/45987065.pdf.
- 49. FAO. 2011. The role of women in agriculture, ESA Working Paper No. 11-02. www.fao.org/docrep/013/am307e/am307eoo.pdf.
- 50. Ibid.
- 51. International Energy Agency. 2010. World Energy Outlook 2010. www.worldenergyoutlook org/publications/weo-2010/.
- 52. UNEP. 2011. Green Economy Report 2011. Chapter on Renewable Energy. www.unep.org/greeneconomy/greeneconomyreport/tabid/29846/default.aspx.
- 53. See UN Women website for further details: www. unwomen.org/2011/12/un-announces-seed-awardwinners-first-gender-equity-award-winner-2011.
- 54. United Nations. 2012. The empowerment of rural women and their role in poverty and hunger eradication, development and current challenges, report of the Secretary-General, E/CN.6/2012/3. www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/csw/csw56/documentation.htm.
- 55. Wadan Narsey. 2007. Gender Issues in Employment, Underemployment and Incomes in Fiji. www.fijichris.gov.fj/docs/108.pdf.
- 56. UNDP. 2011. Human Development Report 2011, Sustainability and Equity: A Better Future for All. http://hdr.undp.org/en/reports/global/hdr2011/.
- 57. United Nations. 2012. The empowerment of rural women and their role in poverty and hunger eradication, development and current challenges, report of the Secretary-General, E/CN.6/2012/3. www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/csw/csw/56/documentation.htm.
- 58. World Bank. 2012. Social influences on gender equity in access to and benefits from energy. Background paper prepared by Joy Clancy et al. for the World Development Report 2012: Gender equality and development. http://wdronline.worldbank.org/worldbank/a/nonwdrdetail/230.
- 59. UNDP and WHO. 2009. The Energy Access Situation in Developing Countries, A review focusing on the Least Developed Countries and Sub-Saharan Africa.
- http://content.undp.org/go/cms-service/ stream/asset/?asset\_id=2205620.
- 60. International Energy Agency. 2010. World Energy Outlook 2010. www.worldenergyoutlook.org/publications/weo-2010/.
- 61. Wilkinson et al. 2009. Public Health Benefits of Strategies to Reduce Greenhouse-gas Emissions: Household Energy, Lancet 374:1917-29. Referenced in World Bank. 2011. Household Cook stoves, Environment Health and Climate Change: A new look at an old problem. http://cleancookstoves.org/wp-content/uploads/2011/05/Household-Cookstoves.pdf.
- 62. Global Village Energy Partnership International. 2009.Cook stoves and Markets: Experiences, Successes and Opportunities www.hedon.info/docs/GVEP\_Markets\_and\_Cookstoves\_\_pdf.
- 63. United Nations. 2010. International Year for Sustainable Energy for All. General Assembly resolution 65/151 of 20 December 2010. http://daccess-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/N10/521/60/IMG/N1052160.pdf?OpenElement.
- 64. United Nations Sustainable Energy for All website: www.sustainableenergyforall.org.
- 65. United Nations. 2010. World urbanization prospects: The 2009 revision. United Nations Population Division.
- 66. Ibid.
- 67. UN-HABITAT and WHO. 2011. Hidden Cities: Unmasking and Overcoming Health Inequities in Urban Settings. www.hiddencities.org.
- 68. UN-HABITAT. 2006. State of the World's Cities 2006/7. The Millennium Development Goals and Urban Sustainability: 30 years of shaping the habitat agenda. www.unhabitat.org/pmss/listItemDetails.aspx?publicationID=2101. See also: www.unwomen.org/2011/06/un-launches-initiative-to-make-cities-safer-for-women-and-children/.
- 69. UN-HABITAT. 2010. Gender Equality for Smarter Cities: challenges and progress. www.unhabitat.org/pmss/listItemDetails.aspx?publicationID=2887.
- 70. UNFPA. 2012. Urbanisation, Gender and Poverty. Technical Briefing, March 2012. www.unfpa. org/webdav/site/global/shared/documents/publications/2012/UNFPA\_gender\_March%202012.pdf.

- 71. United Nations. 2012. The empowerment of rural women and their role in poverty and hunger eradication, development and current challenges, report of the Secretary-General, E/CN. 6/2012/3. www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/csw/csw/56/documentation.htm.
- 72. COHRE. 2008. Violations of women's housing rights in Kenya's slum communities. www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/cescr/docs/info-ngos/COHREKenya41.pdf.
- 73. Tamasha Vijana, Tanzania Development Research Group. 2008. Mapping adolescent vulnerability to HIV in Dar es Salaam: results of an exploratory study. www.jlica.org/userfiles/file/Tz-De5prevention%20draft%20-030308%20(2).pdf.
- 74. Liberia's Sirleaf Market Women's Fund website: www.smwf.org.
- 75. UN Women. 2012. UN Launches Initiative to Make Cities Safer for Women and Children, Press release 22 June 2011. www.unwomen.org/2011/06/un-launches-initiative-to-make-cities-safer-for-women-and-children/.
- 76. UN-HABITAT. 2010. Gender Equality for Smarter Cities: challenges and progress. www.unhabitat.org/pmss/listItemDetails.aspx?publicationID=2887.
- 77. OECD. 2007. Violence Prevention and Empowerment in the Township of Khayelitsha, South Africa. Stories of Empowerment. www. oecd.org/dataoecd/50/29/48869536.pdf.
- 78. World Bank. 2010. Mainstreaming Gender in Road Transport: Operational Guidance for World Bank Staff. Transport Papers, TP-28 March 2010. http://go.worldbank.org/ZJ2UYB4ANo.
- 79. United Nations. 2010. The World's Women 2010: Trends and Statistics, ST/ESA/STAT/SER.K/19.. http:// unstats.un.org/unsd/demographic/products/ Worldswomen/WW\_full%20report\_color.pdf.
- 8o. Ibid
- 81. United Nations. 2011. The Millennium Development Goals Report 2011. www.un.org/ millenniumgoals/11\_MDG%20Report\_EN.pdf.
- 82. UNICEF and WHO. 2008. Progress on Drinking Water and Sanitation: Special focus on sanitation. http://whqlibdoc.who.int/publications/2008/9789241563673\_eng.pdf.
- 83. ILO. 2008. Green Jobs: Facts and Figures. www.ilo. org/wcmsp5/groups/public/@dgreports/@dcomm/documents/publication/wcms\_098484.pdf.
- 84. World Bank. 2012. World Development Report 2012: Gender Equality and Development. http://go.worldbank.org/6R2KGVEXPo.
- 85. ILO. 2009. Global employment trends for women. www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/@dgreports/@dcomm/documents/publication/wcms\_103456.pdf.
- 86. ILO. 2008. Green Jobs: Facts and Figures. www.ilo. org/wcmsp5/groups/public/@dgreports/@dcomm/documents/publication/wcms\_098484.pdf.
- 87. International Labour Foundation for Sustainable Development. 2009. Green Jobs and Women Workers: Employment, Equity, Equality, www. sustainlabour.org/IMG/pdf/women.en.pdf.
- 88. Clean Energy Ministeral website: www. cleanenergyministerial.org/our\_work/women\_in\_clean\_energy/index.html and www.cleanenergyministerial.org/pdfs/factsheets/FS\_C3E\_April2o12.pdf
- 89. Lakshmi Puri. 2004. Trade in Services, Gender and Development: A Tale of Two Modes, in United Nations. 2004. Trade and Gender: Opportunities and Challenges for Developing Countries. http:// unctad.org/en/docs/edm20042\_en.pdf.
- 90. United Nations. 2012. Economic Empowerment of Women. Report of the Secretary-General. E/CN.6/2012/10. www.un.org/ga/search/view\_doc.asp?symbol=E/CN.6/2012/10.
- 91. World Bank. 2012. World Development Report 2012: Gender Equality and Development. http://go.worldbank.org/6R2KGVEXPo.
- 92. Ibid
- 93. ILO. 2002. Decent work and the informal economy, Report VI, 90th Session of the International Labour Conference. www.ilo.org/ilc/ILCSessions/90thSession/WCMS\_078849/lang-en/index.htm.
- 94. United Nations. 2012. Economic Empowerment of Women. Report of the Secretary-General. E/CN.6/2012/10. www.un.org/ga/search/view\_doc.asp?symbol=E/CN.6/2012/10.

- 95. Programme design and outcomes discussed are those of Bolsa Familia, as Bolsa Verde uses the operational framework established by its predecessor and has not operated long enough for analysis. The summary of outcomes is not intended to be comprehensive; for an in-depth discussion, see: UNDP. 2010. Conditional cash transfer programmes and gender vulnerabilities: case studies of Brazil, Chile and Colombia. International Policy Centre for Inclusive Growth Working Paper No. 69. www.ipc-undp.org/pub/IPCWorkingPaper69.pdf.
- 96. United Nations. 2012. Economic Empowerment of Women. Report of the Secretary-General. E/CN.6/2012/10. www.un.org/ga/search/view\_do.asp?symbol=E/CN.6/2012/10.
- 97. ILO. 2004. Breaking Through the Glass Ceiling: Women in Management. www.ilo.org/ dyn/gender/docs/RES/292/f267981337.
- 98: United Nations. 2011. World Population Prospects: The 2010 Revision. United Nations Population Division.
- 99. UNESCO. 2010. Education for All Global Monitoring Report 2010: reaching the marginalized. http://unesdoc. unesco.org/images/0018/001866/186606e.pdf.
- 100. UNESCO. 2010. Global Education Digest 2010: Comparing Education Statistics Across the World. http:// unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0018/001894/189433e.pdf.
- 101. Ibid
- 102. ILO. 2008. Green Jobs: Facts and Figures. www.ilo. org/wcmsp5/groups/public/@dgreports/@dcomm/documents/publication/wcms\_098484.pdf.
- 103. European Commission website: http://ec.europa.eu/justice/gender-equality/gender-pay-gap/national-action/law/index\_en.htm.
- 104. OECD. 2008. Gender and Sustainable Development: Maximizing the Economic, Social and Environmental role of women. www.oecd.org/dataoecd/58/1/40881538.pdf.
- 105. Center for Gender Equality and Ministry of Social Affairs. nd. Gender Equality in Iceland. http://gdatabase.unwomen.org/uploads/ Center%2ofor%2oGender%2oEquality.pdf.
- 106. American Chamber of Commerce in France and Business and Industry Advisory Committee to the OECD. 2012. Putting all our Minds to Work: Harnessing the Gender Dividend, The Business Case. Advanced copy: www.biac.org/pubs/women/20120522\_BIAC\_Gender\_Report\_at\_MCM\_AdvancedCopy.pdf.
- 107. United Nations. 2009. Progress in mainstreaming a gender perspective in the development, implementation and evaluation of national policies and programmes, with a particular focus on the equal sharing of responsibilities between women and men, including caregiving in the context of HIV/AIDS. Report of the Secretary-General. E/CN.6/2009/4. www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/csw/csw63/OfficialDocuments.html.
- 109. Emily Esplen. 2009. Gender and Care: Overview Report. Institute of Development Studies, University of Sussex. www.bridge.ids.ac.uk/reports/cep\_care\_or.pdf.
- 110. WHO. 2002. Health in Sustainable Development Planning: The role of indicators. Chapter 1 on Issues in Health, Environment and Sustainable Development. www.who.int/wssd/resources/indicators/en/.
- 111. The Girl Effect: The World's Greatest Untapped Solution. www.girleffect.org/uploads/ documents/2/Girl\_Effect\_Media\_Kit.pdf.
- 112. WHO. 2009. Women and Health: Today's Evidence, Tomorrow's Agenda. www.who.int/gender/women\_health\_report/en/.
- 113. Ibio
- 114. Huairou Commission. 2010. Valuing and Compensating Caregivers for their Contributions to Community Health and Development in the context of HIV and AIDS: An Agenda for Action. http://huairou.org/sites/default/files/HBC\_final%5B1%5D.pdf.
- 115. WHO. 2009. Women and Health: Today's Evidence, Tomorrow's Agenda. www.who. int/gender/women\_health\_report/en.
- 116. United Nations. 2012. Actions to strengthen linkages among programmes, initiatives and activities throughout the United Nations system for gender equality, the empowerment of women and girls, protection of all of their human rights and elimination of preventable maternal mortality and morbidity. Report of the Secretary-General. E/CN.6/2012/9. www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/csw/csw/56/documentation.htm.
- 117. Ibid.

- 118. United Nations. 2011. Saving the Lives of 16 Million: September 2011 Update, Global Strategy for Women's and Children's Health. www.who.int/pmnch/media/ membernews/2011/EWEC\_pogressupdate2010-2011.pdf.
- 119. Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Norway. 2011. Harnessing innovation to the Global Strategy for Women's and Children's Health: ideas for connecting the world's poorest billion. Thematic report for the Global Campaign for the Health Millennium Development Goals 2011. www.who. int/pmnch/media/membernews/2011/20110920\_ewec\_2011update/en/index.html.
- 120 Ihid
- 121. UNESCO. 2010. Global Education Digest 2010: Comparing Education Statistics Across the World. http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0018/001894/189433e.pdf.
- 122. UNESCO. 2011. Global Education Digest 2011: Comparing education statistics across the world. Focus on Secondary Education. www.uis. unesco.org/Education/Pages/ged-2011.aspx.
- 123. UNESCO. 2012. World Atlas of Gender Equality in Education. www.uis.unesco. org/Education/Documents/unesco-world-atlas-gender-education-2012.pdf.
- 124. United Nations. 2010. The World's Women 2010: Trends and Statistics, ST/ESA/STAT/SER.K/19. http://unstats.un.org/unsd/demographic/products/ Worldswomen/WW full%20report\_color.pdf.
- 125. UNESCO. 2011. Global Education Digest 2011: Comparing education statistics across the world. Focus on Secondary Education. www.uis. unesco.org/Education/Pages/ged-2011.aspx.
- 126. United Nations. 2011. Progress in mainstreaming a gender perspective in the development, implementation and evaluation of national policies and programmes, with a particular focus on access and participation of women and girls in education, training, science and technology, including for the promotion of women's equal access to full employment and decent work. Report of the Secretary-General. E/CN.6/2011/5. www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/csw/csw/cs/documentation.htm.
- 127. UNESCO. 2011. Education for All Global Monitoring Report 2011. www.efareport.unesco.org. See also: www. unesco.org/fileadmin/MULTIMEDIA/HQ/ED/GMR/pdf/gmr2010/MDG2010\_Facts\_and\_Figures\_EN.pdf.
- 128. Ibid.
- 130. Emmanuela Gakidou et al. 2010. Increased educational attainment and its effect on child mortality in 175 countries between 1970 and 2009: a systematic analysis. Lancet 2010, 376: 959–74 http://globalhealthcenter.umn.edu/documents/educationalattainment-lancet2010.pdf.
- 131. Unpublished material provided by representative of the Government of the United Arab Emirates.
- 132. World Economic Forum. 2011. The Global Gender Gap Report 2011. www3.weforum.org/ docs/WEF\_GenderGap\_Report\_2011.pdf.
- 133. Masdar Institute website: www.masdar. ac.ae/inc/7/details.php?type=news&id=86.
- 134. United Nations. 2010. The World's Women 2010: Trends and Statistics, ST/ESA/STAT/SER.K/19. http://unstats.un.org/unsd/demographic/products/Worldswomen/WW\_full%20report\_color.pdf.
- 135. UNESCO. 2012. World Atlas of Gender Equality in Education. www.uis.unesco.org/Education/Documents/unesco-world-atlas-gender-education-2012.pdf.
- 126 Ihid
- 137. Ibid.
- 138. United Nations Millennium Project. 2005. Taking action: achieving gender equality and empowering women. Achieving the Millennium Development Goals. Task force on education and gender equality. www.unmillenniumproject.org/reports/tf\_gender.htm.

UN Women is the UN organization dedicated to gender equality and the empowerment of women. A global champion for women and girls, UN Women was established to accelerate progress on meeting their needs worldwide.

UN Women supports UN Member States as they set global standards for achieving gender equality, and works with governments and civil society to design laws, policies, programmes and services needed to implement these standards. It stands behind women's equal participation in all aspects of life, focusing on five priority areas: increasing women's leadership and participation; ending violence against women; engaging women in all aspects of peace and security processes; enhancing women's economic empowerment; and making gender equality central to national development planning and budgeting. UN Women also coordinates and promotes the UN system's work in advancing gender equality.



UN Women
220 East 42nd Street
New York, NY 10017, USA
www.unwomen.org
www.facebook.com/unwomen
www.twitter.com/un\_women
www.youtube.com/unwomen